From Translation to Creation: Changes in Ethiopic Style and Lexicon from Late Antiquity to the Middle Ages

Project working papers 3

GeTa Annotation Tool User Manual

(by Eugenia Sokolinski)

Hamburg, October 2019

GeTa Annotation Tool: User Manual

Contents

GeTa Anno	otation Tool: User Manual	1
1. Ger	neral Introduction	3
1.1.	GeTa tool	3
1.2.	Technical prerequisites	3
1.3.	Annotation	4
1.4.	Transliteration	6
2. Wo	orking with GeTa: Basic options	7
2.1.	Starting the tool and GUI	7
2.2.	Opening a document: New document	7
2.3.	Opening a document: Annotated document	9
2.4.	Saving document	10
2.5.	Export formats	12
3. Wo	orking with GeTa: Text metadata	14
4. Wo	orking with GeTa: Processing text	15
4.1.	Tokenization	15
4.2.	Transliteration adjustment	17
4.3.	Edits to fidal text	18
4.4.	Errors	19
4.5.	Comments	20
4.6.	Editorial mark-up	20
4.7.	Line breaks and page breaks	21
5. Wo	orking with GeTa: Help functions	24
5.1.	Show window	24
5.2.	Tools: Search	24
5.3.	Tools: Undo function	26
5.4.	Tools: Statistics	26
5.5.	Help: Linguistic Annotation Colours	26
5.6.	Help: Verify Index	26
5.7.	Help: Correct Line Break Nr	27
6. Wo	orking with GeTa: Linguistic annotation	27
6.1.	Basic annotation: POS	27
6.2.	Linking to dictionary	28
6.3.	Completing annotation	30
6.4.	Figure 46 'Deep' annotation	

6.5.	Local and global changes	
7. Wo	rking with GeTa: Text structure	
7.1.	Introducing levels	
7.2.	Assigning spans	
7.3.	Editing spans	
8. Wo	rking with GeTa: Named entities	
8.1.	Places, persons, works	
8.2.	Global annotation	
8.3.	Editing NE annotation	40
8.4.	Titles, dates, abbreviations	40
8.5.	Hiding NE annotation	40
9. Wo	rking with GeTa: particular examples of annotation	41
9.1.	Disambiguation	41
9.2.	Defining the gender and number in nouns	42
9.3.	Using the comment function	43
Glossary	of terms	45

1. General Introduction

1.1. GeTa tool

GeTa (Gəʻəz Toolkit for Annotation) is an application developed within the framework of the project TraCES: From Translation to Creation: Changes in Ethiopic Style and Lexicon from Late Antiquity to the Middle Ages.¹ The tool supports annotation of texts in Gəʻəz (or Classical Ethiopic).

The tool is programmed in Java and stores data in JSON format, while offering data export into several other formats, including ANNIS linguistic visualization platform (<u>http://corpus-tools.org/annis/</u>; via an additional converter) and TEI-XML.²

1.2. Technical prerequisites

(1) System requirements

GeTa tool has been tested on the Windows Platform. A cross-platform usage is foreseen but cannot be guaranteed at the moment.

You will need Windows 7 or later and Java 8 or later for the tool to perform properly, and sufficient operative memory, especially for work with longer texts. For a smooth performance, RAM of 8GB and up is desirable.

(2) Fonts

GeTa tool uses the 'Ethiopic Unicode' and 'Titus' fonts; please install the fonts before using GeTa.

(3) Source text

The source text (prior to annotation) should be in .txt format with UTF-8 encoding. It may contain exclusively Ethiopic characters (*fidal*) in a Unicode font.³ The accepted punctuation marks are limited to the word separator (:) and the 'four dots' full stop (::). No spaces before punctuation marks are accepted. A single space must follow the punctuation marks. Make sure that the 'four dots' correspond to the single Unicode (1362) and not to two times : (If any of these conditions is not fulfilled the text may fail to load).

Note that the tool has been tested with texts containing 35 000 graphic units or less. If you want to work with a longer text, it may be reasonable to split it into parts first, as otherwise the processing time may become unnecessarily slow.

¹ Funded by the European Research Council under the European Union's Seventh Framework Programme, grant agreement no. 338756.

² The tool has been previously introduced on various occasions; see e.g. C. Vertan, 'Bringing Gə'əz into the Digital Era: Computational Tools for Processing Classical Ethiopic', in A. Bausi and E. Sokolinski, eds, *150 Years after Dillmann's Lexicon: Perspectives and Challenges of Gə'əz Studies*, Supplement to Aethiopica, 5 (Wiesbaden: Harrassowitz Verlag, 2016), 31–42; S. Hummel, V. Pisani, and C. Vertan, 'Multi-level Digital Annotation of Ethiopic Texts', *Comparative Oriental Manuscript Studies Bulletin*, 4/1 (2018) = *Proceedings of the Workshop Linking Manuscripts from the Coptic, Ethiopian, and Syriac Domain: Present and Future Synergy Strategies Hamburg, 23 and 24 February 2018*, 97–106; S. Druskat and C. Vertan, 'Nachnutzbarmachung von Forschungsdaten und Tools am Beispiel altäthiopischer Korpora', in G. Vogeler, ed., *Kritik der digitalen Vernunft. Abstracts zur Jahrestagung des Verbandes Digital Humanities im deutschsprachigen Raum, 26.02.–02.03.2018 an der Universität zu Köln, veranstaltet vom Cologne Center for eHumanities (CCeH) (Köln: Universität zu Köln, 2018), 270–273.*

³ The tool currently supports work with vocalized *fidal* script only. In the future annotation of unvocalized Gəʿəz and/or Gəʿəz written in Sabaic characters (as used in inscriptions) may be enabled.

1.3. Annotation

Annotation means that additional information (meta-data) is provided to a document at some level it can be a letter, a word, a phrase, a paragraph, a section, etc., or also the entire document. This metadata can be then subject of various search requests. In the case of GeTa, it is possible to

- (1) Provide detailed linguistic information;
- (2) Provide lexical information;
- (3) Mark-up named entities;
- (4) Add structural mark-up;
- (5) Introduce editorial remarks.

Comments can be left at each level of annotation. Note that you can freely choose colours to highlight commented graphic units; commented tokens have grey background.

Each document can be further linked to an external resource where general meta-data on the annotated text is stored.

(1) Linguistic annotation

The GeTa application allows thorough morphological analysis since labels (tags) can be assigned to minimal morphological units (tokens) and not to graphic units in their entirety, as is the case with the majority of other annotation tools available. For each token, the users can select one of 33 parts of speech, and subsequently optionally select the relevant features. For the list of the available labels, see Table 1.⁴ The possible combinations amount to over 6,700 (4,860 for the common noun alone)— the unique value of the GeTa tool.

(2) Lexical annotation

Each lexical unit (word) can be linked to the relevant entry in the online dictionary of Ethiopic (also developed by the TraCES project) accessible at <u>https://betamasaheft.eu/Dillmann/</u>.⁵

(3) Named entities

In addition to being marked up linguistically as 'proper names', names of persons and toponyms (whether consisting of one or several graphic units) can be further annotated by linking them to an external authority file (stored at https://betamasaheft.eu/) where extensive meta-data on these entities is stored. Dates and titles can also be tagged.

(4) Text structure

The tool allows splitting text in semantic sections of various levels (e.g. chapters, sub-chapters, verses, etc.). The beginning/end of a page (e.g. when following a printed edition) or a line (e.g. in poetry or inscriptions) can also be marked.

(5) Editorial mark-up

GeTa is primarily a tool for linguistic annotation, not for text editing, and therefore the editorial markup feature is relatively basic. Yet, sometimes (e.g. in case of reconstructed, missing, or doubtful text) it is important to be able to reproduce the existing editorial annotation. This is possible in the tool.

⁴ More on the grammars used and on the development of the Part of Speech tag set in S. Hummel and W. Dickhut 2016. 'A Part of Speech Tag Set for Ancient Ethiopic', in A. Bausi and E. Sokolinski, eds, *150 Years after Dillmann's Lexicon: Perspectives and Challenges of Ga'az Studies*, Supplement to Aethiopica, 5 (Wiesbaden: Harrassowitz Verlag, 2016), 17–29.

⁵ See also E. Sokolinski, 'The 'TraCES' Project: Towards a New Approach to Studying the Gə'əz Language', *Comparative Oriental Manuscript Studies Bulletin*, 4/1 (2018) = *Proceedings of the Workshop Linking Manuscripts from the Coptic, Ethiopian, and Syriac Domain: Present and Future Synergy Strategies Hamburg, 23 and 24 February 2018*,) 59–66.

Class	Subclass	POS	Features and examples
Nominals	Nouns	Common Noun	Gender (masculine/feminine/unmarked, nature/pattern/syntax), Number (pattern/syntax, singular/plural external/plural internal/plural of the plural/unmarked), Case (Nominative/Accusative/Accusative zero/Vocative), State (Absolute/Construct/Construct zero/Pronominal)
		Proper Name	Gender, Number, Case (options as above)
	Pronouns	Independent Personal Pronoun	Person (first/second/third), Gender (masculine/feminine/communis), Number (singular/plural), Case (Nominative/Accusative) · አነ፡, አንተ፡, አንቲ፡, ውእቱ፡/ውእተ፡, ይእቲ፡/ይእተ፡
		Pronominal Suffix	Person, Gender, Number (options as above) $\cdot + \mathfrak{K} / + \mathfrak{h}, +\mathfrak{h}, +\mathfrak{h}, +\mathfrak{v}, +\mathfrak{V} \dots$
		Subject Pronoun Base	no features · ለሊ+PSuff (but 1c.sg.: ለሊየ፡ or ለልየ፡ or ለሌየ፡)
		Object Pronoun Base	no features · ኪ.ዩ+PSuff
		Possessive Pronoun Base	Gender, Number (options as above) · m.sg. ዚአ+PSuff, f.sg. እንቲአ+PSuff, c.pl. አሊአ+PSuff
		Demonstrative Pronoun	Gender, Number, Case (options as above) • near: m.sg. ዝ+/ዘ+ or ዝንቱ፡/ዘንተ፡, f.sg. ዛ+ or ዛቲ፡/ዛተ፡ m.pl: አሉ፡ or አሎንቱ፡/አሎንተ፡, f.pl. አላ፡ (አሎን፡) or አላንቱ፡ (አላንቲ፡)/ አላንተ፡ • far: m.sg. ዝ৮፡/ዘሎ፡ or ዝኵቱ፡/ዝኵተ፡, f.sg. አንትኩ፡ /አንትኰ፡ or አንታኩቲ፡/ አንታኩተ፡, c.pl. አልኩ፡ or አልኵቱ፡ (አልኩቱ፡)/አልኵተ፡ (አልኩተ፡) or አላኩቱ፡/አላኩተ፡
		Relative Pronoun	Gender, Number (options as above) · m.sg. ዘ+, f.sg. እንተ፡, c.pl. እለ፡
		Interrogative Pronoun	Number, Case (options as above) · መኑ፡/መነ፡ who?, ምንት፡/ምንተ፡ what?, sg. አይ፡/አየ ፡ which?, pl. አይት፡/አይተ፡
		Pronoun of Totality Base	Case (options as above) · ከሴ+Psuff <i>all, everything</i> · ከለንታ+PSuff <i>whole, in the whole being</i>
		Pronoun of Solitude Base	Case (options as above) · ባ <i>ሌቲ</i> ት+PSuff <i>alone</i>
	Numerals	Cardinal Numeral	Gender (masculine/feminine/unmarked), Number (singular/plural), Case (Nominative/Accusative), State (Absolute/Construct/Pronominal), Logogram (free text field to insert the Arabic numeral)
		Ordinal Numeral	Gender, Number, Case, State, Logogram (options as above)
Verbs		Verb	Person (first/second/third), Gender (masculine/feminine/communis), Number (singular/plural), Tense/Aspect/Mood (perfect/imperfect/subjunctive/imperative/gerund/infinitive) For Infinitive: Case. State (as for nouns above)
Existentials	5	Existentials Affirmative Base	no features • በ+PSuff <i>there is</i> (ብዮ:, ብስ:, ብኪ:, ቦ፡ or ቦ/ቱ፡, ባ፡ or ባ/ቲ፡)
		Existentials Negative Base	no features · አልበ+PSuff: (አልብየ:, አልብኪ:, አልብኪ:, አልቦ: or አልቦቱ:, አልባ: or አልባቲ:)
Particles	Adverbs	Interrogative Adverb	no features · አይቴ፡ where? ጣለዜ፡ when? አፎ፡ how? ጣመጠን፡ how many?
		Other Adverb	no features · location: ህየ፡ there, አፍአ፡ outside, ዝየ፡ here, ወጋም፡ left · time: ቀዲሙ፡ before, ካዕበ፡ again, ዮም፡ today, ይእዜ፡ now, ጌስም፡ tomorrow · others: መጠነ፡ as large as, ቀዳሚ፡ at first, ባለተቱ only, አማን፡ truly, ግሙራ entirely
	Preposition		State (nominal and pronominal state) enclitic: ለ+ for, በ+ with, እም+ from independent: ላዕለ፡ above, ምስለ፡ with, ማእከለ፡ between, ቅድም፡ in front, ጎበ፡ to compound: በጎበ፡ at, ዘእንበለ፡ without, በእንተ፡ concerning, እንቢይነ፡ for the sake of comparative: እም፡ than, ከም፡ like
			no features • ባለተ። yet, ሶበ፡ when, ኀበ፡ where, በኀበ፡ (there,) where, አላ፡ but rather, አም፡ since, አመ፡ when, አመ፡ if, አስመ፡ because, እስከ፡ until, አንዝ፡ while, አሙ፡ or, ከመ፡ (so) that, መ+ and, that, but • +subjunctive so that
	Interjectior	1	State (nominal/pronominal) • to express <i>woe</i> !: አሌ፡ (+ለ+PSuff: አሌልየ፡ or አሌ፡ ሊ <i>ተ</i> ፡), ወይ፡ • <i>አ</i> + <i>oh!, አህ፡ ah!, እንቋሪ፡ ha!, ዬ፡ or ዮ፡ alas!, ጸጥ፡ quiet!</i> • ባ <i>ሕ፡ hail</i> ! (also +PSuff 2m/f: ባሓክ፡, ባሓኪ፡)

Table 1. Parts of speech and possible features in the GeTa tool

Class	Subclass	POS	Features and examples
	Further	Accusative Particle	no features
	Particles		י + א (suffixed only to proper names)
		Affirmative Particle	no features
			· አወ፡ , +ጓ yes indeed!, certainly!
		Deictic Imperative	Person, Gender, Number
		Particle	· m.sg. ነዓ፡ (ንዓ፡), f.sg. ንዒ፡ m.pl. ንው፡, f.pl. ነዓ፡
		Interrogative	no features
		Particle	· +ሁ, +ኑ
		Negative Particle	no features
		(Base)	· ኢ+, አልቡ፡ (= PartNeg+PSuff:3m.sg), አንቢ+PSuff: እንብየ፡, አኮ፡
		Presentational	no features
		Particle Base	· Behold! ና+PSuff:3m.sg (ናው፡), ነው+PSuff:3f.sg (ነዋ፡), ነይ +PSuff (not second person),
			እን +PSuff
		Quotative Particle	no features
			· +አ
		Vocative Particle	no features
			· /\+
		Other Particles	no features
			·+½ and also, + even, + doch!, + even, + to, O doch!, so then!, + now, just
Foreign N	Material		· For example ሰንድ sagad (element in proper names such as 'Aṣnāf Sagad, regnal
			name of King Galāwdewos, r. 1540–1559).
Punctuat	ion		

Check paragraph 9 below for some examples of the features in linguistic annotation.

1.4. Transliteration

The GeTa tool is based on the transliteration convention, which is currently used by all projects based at the Hiob Ludolf Centre for Ethiopian Studies at Universität Hamburg. For the transliteration table, see Table 2 (see also <u>http://betamasaheft.eu/Guidelines/?id=transliteration-principles</u>).

	Table 2.	Transliteration	principles
--	----------	-----------------	------------

Consonants									
υ		ha			1			ga	
۸		la			Л			<u>ț</u> a	
ሐ		ḥа			ጰ			р́а	
đЪ		ma			ጸ			şa	
Ψ		śa			θ			ḍa	
ሬ		ra			6.			fa	
ń		sa			Т			ра	
ф		qa			ቈ			q ^w a	
N		ba			ጐ			ĥ™a	
ヤ		ta			ኰ			k*a	
ጎ	ђа			\mathcal{P}		g ^w a			
ነ	na			ក			va		
አ	'a				Ŧ			ča	
h		ka			e			ğа	
Ф		wa	va		ጨ			čа	
0		ʻa			Ŧ			qa	
Н		za	a		ሽ		<u>k</u> a		
የ ya		уа		ሸ		ša			
ደ da		da							
Vowel orders	;								
1	2	3	3	4		5	6		7
а	u	i		ā		е	ə		0

2. Working with GeTa: Basic options

2.1. Starting the tool and GUI

Once you have downloaded the tool (in the .jar format) you are all set, no additional installation is needed.

In order to open the GeTa application, double click on the .jar file in the repository you have downloaded it to, and the main window will open (see Figure 1).



Figure 1

Note that in the top menu, as well as in all programme submenus, available functions are shown in black; inactive functions appear in grey and cannot be clicked.⁶

2.2. Opening a document: New document

In order to start work with a new document (which has not been previously annotated), choose in the top menu File -> Open -> New fidal file (Figure 2).

(Make sure that the file contains only the Ethiopic text (using a Unicode-based font), saved in the .txt format with UTF-8 encoding (see also §1.2 above)).

Eile History Show W	indow Tools	View/Configure	Annotations	Keyboards	Help	Automatic Annotation	About
Open +	New fidal file out						
Close Det	Annotated file and						
Save co-0							
Save As							
Save Parts							
Create Metadata							
Import •							
Export							
Export Words with Ida							
Exit							

Figure 2

⁶ In most cases, text in grey means that the function is disabled at the current work stage. E.g. prior to loading the text, you cannot 'Close', 'Save', or 'Export' it (fig. 2); after a graphic unit has been tokenized, the 'Tokenise' function is disabled (fig. 15); for a non-infinitive Verb 'State' and 'Case' do not apply and cannot be filled (fig. 33). In some cases, this means that the function is still under development, such as e.g. 'Join GraphicUnits' and 'Join Morphologically' (fig. 10).

By default, the menu shall open in your local user menu; navigate to the folder you have saved your file to and click to open.

You will be prompted to choose the script you shall be working with (South Arabian or Ethiopic: click 'No' to continue working with Ethiopic script) and then to choose whether you are working with vocalized or unvocalized Gəʿəz: click 'No' to continue working with vocalized Ethiopic script (Figure 3).

Exit Confirmation						
South Arabic Script?						
()						
Exit Confirmation						
? Only Consonant Transcription?						
Yes No						

Figure 3

Now the tool is indexing the text and producing the automatic transliteration; this may take some minutes depending on the file size.

Once the indexing and transliteration process are complete, two text frames shall appear in the main interface window: the original *fidal* text on the left and the automatically produced transliteration on the right (see Figure 4).

Show cursor position		n" " " Show current word annotation		ੱ d' 🛛 👓 🕻
Original libanos-lest.txt		n° D° □ Transitierated libanos-test.txt		of (2)
00 <i>0</i> 0 :	እግዚአብሔር ፡	basəma	əgəzi abəher	Î.
/~A.A :	"Ad-1"	śəlus	bəhuta	
009:	HENA:	haləwo	zayəkəl	
<u>ቀተርስ</u> ፡	ወለሕይዎ ፡	qatila	wa ahəyəwo	
መኰንካ፡	ጽድቀ ፡	makwanəna	şədəq	
ውእቱ፡	ዘአንበለ ፡	= wə`ətu	za'ənəbala	-
አድልዎ ፡	wha:	adələwo	wakama	
ሐመድ :	A2.02:	hamad	lagime	
ዘይዘርዎ፡	whan:	zayəzarəwo	wakama	
ፍተታት፣	ውስተ፡	fətatāt	wəsəta	
ምድር፣	ሰበረድ ፡	mədər	labarad	-
H.C.6.39 :	ወቃለ ፡	zayəfenəwo	waqāla	
H. KU- :	አትሊዎ ፡	zi'ahu	atəliwo	
በእሳተ ፡	0-h.C. :	ba'əsāta	dahāy	
ዘይመስዎ፡	016 ch :	zayəmasəwo	banafiha	
መንራስ፡	A"7.€ :	manəfas	lamāy	
H.C. nop :	ዘአንሶስወ ፡	zavəkə əwo	za anəsosawa	
ው ስተ ፣	ዓለም :	wasata	'ālam	

Figure 4

Note that you can adjust the width of each frame manually (e.g. making the frames wide enough to accommodate three horizontal cells, see Figure 5). For long texts, the view adjustment may take some time, but it has to be carried out only once; the next time you open your file, it will open in the last layout you used it in.

Original 187GeTa Ver5_25Juni	18.json		n' @ Transliterated 187GeTa Ver5_2	5Junit8jaan		o" [2
<i>ሕግር</i> ፡	መዝ ፡	2.2.97:	- homer	wa-za	raydān	1
መዝ :	ሰበአ ፣	00H :	wa-za	saba	wa-za	
ሰልሔን፣	@] ³ [H :	8.99 :]	salhen	wa-za	səyamo	
OH :	-11.2 :	መዘ :	- wa-za	bəgā	wa-za	
ካሱ።	37-10:	アノノア・オ・	kāsu	nəguśa	nagaśt	
ወ]•ልደ፡	and C.9º :	HX. ይ. ት መዋ ፡	walda	mahrom	za-'ə-yətmawwā	
Λθ C :	ፀብአ- ፡	た[2.4-た :] *	la-darr	dab'u	agwezāta	
ans, to :	2370:	AUP :	wa-başihomu	angabo	ba-həya	
2h05 :	አበአልክያ ፡	37.00:	rakaba-na	'aba'alkə'o	noguśa	

The automatic transliteration follows the principles shown in Table 2, only the sixth-order vowel in word-final position is suppressed. Word separators (:) are attached to the preceding letter; sentence punctuation marks (:) are treated as separate graphic units and can be linguistically annotated.

The underlying structure behind each graphic unit can be viewed if you select a word in the left frame, right-click it and select 'Visualize structure' (Figure 6).



Figure 6

The user can now proceed to the next step of manual correction and tokenization (see below).

2.3. Opening a document: Annotated document

In order to continue working with a file that has been annotated or otherwise modified in the GeTa tool, choose in the top menu File -> Open -> Annotated file (Figure 7).



Figure 7

By default, the menu shall open in your local user menu; navigate to the directory where you have saved your last edited project, select the file of the format filename.json in the target folder, and choose 'open'. Depending on the size of your file, it may take some minutes until the interface (as above) is built, depending on your system prerequisites and the length of the document, please be patient.

During the opening process, the tool controls the consistency of the index; if there are problems, these shall show in the error window (see § 4.4 below).

2.4. Saving document

Your file can be saved at any moment of work.

2.4.1. Saving for the first time

The very first time you can save the file by going to File -> Save As. You will be asked to browse to the directory on your computer you would like to save the file to and choose the filename (Figure 8). The tool shall then create a project folder bearing the name consisting of the name you chose (e.g. 'genesis') followed by a time stamp for the version control (e.g. 'genesisVER18_12_07_13_54_12').

NB it may be a good idea to select a file name followed by an understroke (e.g. 'genesis_') to generate an easily readable filename (e.g. 'genesis_VER18_12_07_13_54_12').

The folder contains seven files, the main text file in JSON format and several auxiliary project files (in .ann and .ind formats) generated by the tool. The file names consist of the name you chose and (eventually) an extension specifying the tool version you used (e.g. 'genesisGeTa Ver5_25Juni18.JSON'; see Figure 9).

🕌 Save		×
Save In:	Temp	
File <u>N</u> ame:	genesis	
Files of <u>Type</u> :	All Files	-
		Save Cancel

Figure 8



Figure 9

2.4.2. Re-saving the document and versioning control

Once a GeTa version of the text has been created on your computer, you can always update it by clicking File -> Save (or Control+S). In this case, the versioning extensions are not modified, and the time stamp remains unchanged, even if changes are introduced later.

For full versioning control, it is recommended to use the 'Save As' function, especially if a series of significant changes have been introduced. You can choose the same filename and yet a new folder created shall be with а new time stamp in vour chosen directory (e.g. 'genesisVER18_12_21_11_51_10'), with the current version of your annotation project.

If you ever attempt to close the document you have been working on or the tool window without saving, you will be prompted to save your project (see Figure 10). If you click 'Yes' in the prompt window, the latest project version shall be updated (without creating a new time-stamped version) and the file closed. If you want to create a new time-stamped folder select 'Cancel' and then use the 'Save As' function as described above.



Figure 10

2.4.3. Saving parts

Once your text has been annotated structurally (see § 7 below on assigning text divisions) you can also choose to save only specific sections by selecting File -> Save Parts on the save menu. You will first see a warning message that once you complete the save part operation the current file shall be closed to avoid confusion. Make sure you have saved the file as it is before clicking 'Yes'.

Subsequently, you will be asked which parts you would like to save (see Figure 11). Select the part(s) and click OK to be taken to the 'save as' pop up window where you can select a file name for the new project. A new time stamped project folder will then be generated on your computer and the current project shall be closed to ensure that when you continue your work you know whether you are doing so in the 'long' or in the 'short' project.

This function is only possible after text spans have been assigned, you cannot simply save passages if these have not been marked up first.

C:\Users\EAE\genesisVER18_12_07	14_17_59\genesisGeTa Ver5_25Juni18.json	Select Div	isions 🗖 🗹
<u>በቀዳሚ ፡</u> እግዚአብሔር ፡ ወምድረ ወምድርስ ፡	7ብረ ፡ ሰማየ ፡ ። ኢታስተርኢ ፡	⊯ chapter 1	[በቀዳሚ #]
ወኢኮነት ፡ ወጽልመት ፡ ቀላይ ፡ እግዚአብሔር ፡	ድሉተ፡ መልዕልተ፡ ወመንፈስ፡ ይኤልል፡	Chapter 2	[ወርአዮ ፡፡]
መጫመልጥ ነ ። እግዚአብሔር ፡ ብርሃን ፡ ብርሃን	ወይቤ ፡ ለይኩን ፡ ወኮነ ፡ ፡፡	ок	Cancel
ወርእዮ ፡ ለብርሃን ፡ ሥናይ ፡	እግዚአብሔር ፡ ከመ ፡ ወፈለጠ ፡		

Figure 11

2.5. Export formats

In addition to saving your file in the GeTa-own json format you can also choose to export your document to formats that can be used by other applications. Go to the Export submenu in the File menu for the options (Figure 12).

ANNIS (the abbreviation stands for ANNotation of Information Structure) is a web-based platform for search and visualization of linguistic corpora. The ANNIS software can be freely downloaded at http://corpus-tools.org/annis/ and locally installed and used; the server installation of Hamburg Zentrum für Sprachkorpora hosts some of the texts generated with the GeTa tool within the TraCES project. In order to create ANNIS-readable data, choose the "Export to Converter" option. In this case, a time-stamped Export subfolder containing seven (7) time-stamped files (with the same extensions as the files in your working directory) will be generated inside the directory of your annotated file. Run the Pepper-Grinder Converter application (see the Pepper Grinder user guide) to generate from these new files the ANNIS-readable data.

TEI-XML is the extensible mark-up language standard developed by the Text Encoding Initiative and used by many projects and platforms worldwide. The TEI guidelines can be viewed at http://www.tei-c.org/guidelines/. The GeTa tool allows exporting the complete annotation, only the linguistic annotation, or only the text structure with named entities mark-up (the latter is the one most frequently employed by projects publishing TEI-encoded texts for research purposes).

File History Show W	indow Tools View/Configure Annotations Keyboards
Open >	- г д' X)
Close Ctrl-C	
Save Ctrl-S	=
Save As	
Save Parts	
Create Metadata	_11_11_14_06_35\libanos_19_12GeTa Ver6_16October19.json 🛛 🗖
Import >	እግዚአብሔር ፡
Export >	Export to Converter
Export Words with Ids	TEI All Annotations
Exit	ወአሕይዎ ፡

Figure 12

Choose "All Annotations" export to produce a single XML file (with the name *YOURFILENAME*TEILing.xml) in the directory of your annotated file. The XML file contains all annotations formatted according to the general TEI recommendations; it is not associated to any particular schema (see Figure 13 for the XML file snippet prior to formatting and after formatting).





Note that the links to the authority files (dictionary entries, named entities) are provided in the form of short IDs (e.g. for the dictionary <f name="lex">L52ad20427e464053b7820f87cf6dfd0d-- %H9</f>; for the named entity <f name="lit" fVal="'ezānā" corresp="#PRS3938Ezana">) used by the applications https://betamasaheft.eu/Dillmann and https://betamasaheft.eu, respectively. If you want to use the data on a platform different from https://betamasaheft.eu, and maintain the active links, they must be extended to, for the example provided, https://betamasaheft.eu/Dillmann/lemma/L52ad20427e464053b7820f87cf6dfd0d and https://betamasaheft.eu/Dillmann/lemma/L52ad20427e464053b7820f87cf6dfd0d and https://betamasaheft.eu/Dillmann/lemma/L52ad20427e464053b7820f87cf6dfd0d and https://betamasaheft.eu/PRS3938Ezana/.

The 'Export Words with Ids' function is used by developers rather than by annotators. If you use the 'Export Words with Ids' function you will generate three new files in your current project folder: (1) a text file containing the entire text in fidal; (2) a text file containing the entire text in transliteration, and (3) a simple XML file and containing your text as a list of words in transliteration supplied with their unique identifiers as automatically assigned by the tool (Figure 14).

<w id="Wf2e5da2f-322e-4eab-94df-19c2487220c3" tr="ba-səma"></w>
<w id="Wd5067cb3-4640-454a-893f-f1a44e71b26b" tr="<sup>5</sup>ab"></w>
<w id="W40bd3b02-c262-4b36-b5a3-bfa51062e486" tr="wa-wald"></w>
<w id="Wede71ec2-d171-4149-98c6-e0fa76c12e3f" tr="wa-manfas"></w>
<w id="W9d7fd567-a8b1-4f06-b3b3-696383a12cbf" tr="qəddus"></w>
<w id="W3e71487b-02df-4318-8263-22c66173e1dd" tr="1-°amlāk"></w>
<w id="Wd84cbcff-b0a4-4c1d-a49a-878dd97e7ecd" tr="nəshəf"></w>
<w id="Wc5dd3162-a3f7-4ae1-a6cc-f46afa4b8338" tr="ba-rad<sup>9</sup>eta"></w>
<w id="W23302680-5f3a-44e8-b3c5-416b7538e460" tr="°əgzi°ə-na"></w>
<w id="W94e42b68-0b0b-4d14-b2de-f322da2d6aba" iyasus"="" tr=""></w>
<w id="W2fe517a1-6ac8-4949-99c2-2fba30629ad5" tr="krəstos"></w>
<w id="Wf2c21581-090a-4e4f-a7f7-8b917da9c5eb" tr="hayla"></w>
<w id="Wb043553e-cf52-402f-9204-b06d3f896851" tr="wa-mawi<sup>3</sup>a"></w>
<w id="W5bc8c904-f398-42f1-bd30-f4e1f15f6e50" tr="za-gabra"></w>
<w id="W294f54c0-7056-496b-b9fd-2fb7a6ebdbf9" tr="°əgzi°abəher"></w>
<w id="W6eca1e22-11d4-4c4a-a804-d588d290022d" tr="ba-°ədawi-hu"></w>
<w id="Wb1874f19-a0e2-4649-b8f8-8b2aad6a8976" tr="la-cāmda"></w>
<w id="W4afcd588-5d4c-4c91-bc31-97fa33e705ee" tr="səyon"></w>
<w id="W04e2a76d-d469-43e3-9993-49b3eded3d42" tr="nəguśa"></w>
<w id="Wf0ab39fd-0bdf-4291-8cd4-993cca8d3050" ityopyā"="" tr=""></w>
< w tr = "wa-soma" id = "W6c29aaf2-2719-4063-a1df-6beea48df1e3" > $< w$ >

Figure 14

It is possible to process this file by tagging the named entities following the XML schema distributed with the tool (WordsID.xsd) and then import the modified file using the 'Import - > Import NE' function in the File menu.

3. Working with GeTa: Text metadata

Once a document has been created it must be accompanied by the general meta-data. Choose the 'Create Metadata' option from the File menu. In the new frame, fill the fields as requested (Figure 15).

<u>File</u> <u>H</u> istory	Show Wi	ndow	Tools	View/Configure	Annotations	Keyboards
Open	•					
Close	Ctrl-C		Please Insert E	3M Id		
Save	Ctrl-S		L	T1473GadlaL	Che	ck
Save As			THE FN	Vita of Libānos		
Save Parts			Title Gəʿəz			
Create Metadata		_11_11_14	Annotator			
Import	Þ		Zotero Link			
Export	Þ		Comment Body Text	▼ Default	▼ At @	BIUE
Export Words with	ı Ids					
Exit						
መኰንካ፥			Edit HTML			
ውእቴ				Save	Clear	
አድልዎ፣			ወከመ ፡			

Figure 15

Only minimal data is requested in the GeTa tool, the extensive metadata is stored in TEI XML format on the betamasaheft.eu server. Search the betamasaheft.eu database to recover the work ID and type it in the upper field. On clicking 'Check' the tool shall connect to the database in real time and retrieve the title information. You can now additionally provide the annotator information, if you are using a published edition, you can also provide a link to the ethiostudies Zotero library entry for this publication, and enter additional comments.

Check the metadata provided on <u>https://betamasaheft.eu/</u> and edit the relevant XML file or inform the project team if any important information is missing and should be added.

If there is so far no fitting record in the <u>https://betamasaheft.eu/</u> database, contact the project team so that the record can be created.

4. Working with GeTa: Processing text

Once the transliterated text has been loaded, users should prepare the text for being annotated. This implies correcting possible errors in fidal, adjusting the transliteration (by removing the unnecessary sixth-order vowels and introducing gemination if morphologically (or phonetically) required) and, most importantly, splitting the graphic units into the minimal morphological units (tokens).

The precise workflow for these actions may vary from user to user. It may be advisable, especially for larger texts, to carry out the tokenization before proceeding to adjusting/correcting the transliteration itself, even if the transcription may feel wrong, as then batch corrections on single tokens are possible. Yet in some cases the transliteration must be corrected before tokenization, see 4.2.1 below.

4.1. Tokenization

In order to tokenize a graphic unit consisting of more than one morphological units, select the graphic unit in the transliteration frame, and right-click the mouse for a drop down menu. Select 'Tokenise' in the menu (Figure 16).

Show cursor position	•* ø छ ≘	Show current word annotation	్ బో బె
C:Users/EAEVbanos_19_12V	TER19_11_11_14_06_398banco_19_12667a Ver6_16October19.json = 0	C:UseralEAElibanos_19_12VER19_11_11_14_08_358libanos_19_12GeTa Ver6_16October	li 19.json p ^r D [*]
በጠው : ሥለ-ስ : ህልም : ቀተለ : መከ-ንኑ : መካ-ንኑ :	እግቢሉ የተሐይር ፡ ግብሎ ተ ፡ ዛይክል ፡ ወኢሕይዎ ፡ ጽድቅ ፡ ዛአንበለ ፡ ወከሙ ፡ ስጊሚ ፡ ወከሙ ፡ ውስተ ፡ ለቢደ: ፡	basama Sepirate GraphicUnit Sepirate GraphicUnit kieser GraphicUnit Beener GraphicUnit bahuta halawo Delete GraphicUnit bahuta gatila Join GraphicUnit wa abayawo makwanari Join GraphicUnit sodaq wo but Sodaq wakama adalawo Comment GraphicUnit wakama parayazaraw Remove Tokens wakama fatatät Unguistic Annotation labarad	

Figure 16

A new frame shall pop-up showing the transliterated letters of the graphic unit. You can now select the last letter of the first token and click 'New token' to introduce a break (marked by a hyphen) (Figure 17).

Tok	enisatio	n (888)				רׂם	X	
	Graphic Unit							
b	a	-	S	ə	m	a		
New	Token				Delet	e Token		
Glob	al		Tokenise		Canc	el		

Figure 17. Introducing tokenization

If during the tokenization process you have noticed that the break was introduced erroneously you can delete it by selecting the n-dash and clicking 'Delete token' (Figure 18).

	Tokenisatio	n 👬				`⊡` [X
Graphic Unit							
b	a	s	ə	m	-	a	
N	ew Token				Delet	te Token	
	Global	1	Fokenise		Cano	el	

Figure 18. Deleting token during tokenization

Once the word in the frame is fully tokenized you can execute the changes by clicking the 'Tokenise' button (Figure 19). If the same tokenization should be applied to all occurrences in the text you can tick the 'Global' option.

To	kenisati	on 🐘				⊏ ⊠	X
Graphic Unit							
b	a	-	s	ə	m	a	
Nev	w Token				Delet	e Token	
🖌 Glo	obal	Т	okenise		Canc	el	

Figure 19. Assigning tokenization

The globally tokenized units appear italicized in the transliteration frame (see Table 3 for the format and colour code), so that the user can easily see what has been done automatically and not manually, and by necessity correct the tokenization (Figure 20).

'əmə'ab	wa-waləd
wa-manfas	qəddus
	÷ •

Figure 20. Automatically tokenized words

Once the tokenization has been implemented, it is still possible to edit/delete it, mark the graphic unit in the transliteration window, right-click and select 'Remove tokens' from the drop-down menu. A pop-up window shall warn you that if there is any annotation attached to the tokens of the graphic unit, it shall be removed, and the annotation shall have to be eventually reintroduced, so execute 'Delete Tokens' only if you are sure (Figure 21).

wa-za	<u>həmer</u>
wa-za	raydān
wa-za	<u>saba'</u>
wa-za	<u>salhen</u>
wa 🗋 Delete Tokens	r 3 🗵
You are going to delete existent to Wa together with their morphological &	kens & NE annotation
wa Global	
nəş Delete Tokens	Cancel
Wa. Delete Complete Annotation Confir	mation
Za- You may erase annotat	ions which are marked as Complete. See a List and decide ?
dat dat	
wa	Yes No Cancel
ba-həva	rakaba-na

Figure 21. Deleting tokens after tokenization

If the same correction should be applied every time the same graphic unit has been tokenized in the same way, check the 'Global' box before performing the 'Delete Tokens' action. In this case, you shall be first asked if you want to see the list of all occurrences marked as 'Complete'. Click Yes to be taken to the list; you can now select manually which instances should be removed (See Figure 22).

wa	-78	homer		
wa	-78	ravdān		
wa	-za	<u>saba'</u>		
wa	-za	<u>salhen</u>		
wa wa nəş wa za- dal wa ba- <u>`at</u>	Delete Tokens You are going to delete existent tokens together with their morphological & NE annota Global Delete Tokens Already Tokenised Following tokens are marked as "com aksum wa-za homer hamer wa-za saba wa-za saba saba	plete annotated". Select th	e ones you want to change	
	ОК		Cancel	



4.2. Transliteration adjustment

In order to correct the automatically generated transliteration (morphological adjustment – without correcting typographic errors that would be also reflected in *fidal*, see §4.3), right-click the relevant graphic unit and choose 'Edit Transliteration' from the drop-down menu (Figure 23).

Transliterated libanos-testGeTa Ver5_2April	2019.json			۳Ľ
qatila	wa-`a	ahəyəwo		
mak ^w annəna	şədq			
wə'ətu	za-`ə	nbala		
'adləwo	wa-k	ama		
ḥamad	la-gir	ne		
za-yəzarrəw-o	wa-k	ата		
fətatāt	wəsə	to Declara Combielleit		
mədr	la-ba	Insert GraphicUnit Before		 -
za-yəfennəw-o	waqā	Insert GraphicUnit After		
zi'ahu	'atəli	Delete GraphicUnit		
ba-'əsāta	dahā	Join Morphologically		
za-yəmasəw-o	ba-na	Split GraphicUnit) monoto	
manfas	la-mā	Comment GraphicUnit	• wəsəta	
za-yəkəʿəw-o	za-'a	Tokenise		
wəsəta	ʻālan	Remove Tokens	_	
labezəwo	'əma	NE	<u>}</u>	
qədus	wa`ə	mārəyām	•	

Figure 23

Clicking on the token you would like to edit, you will see a new pop up window. Choose first whether your changes must be applied only locally (to the unique occurrence) or globally (automatically correcting the transliteration of the token throughout the text if the exact string appears elsewhere). You can now select whether you would like e.g. to remove the sixth-order vowel and/or to introduce gemination (Figure 24).

	🗂 Modify 🗾 🗖 🛛							
	Token							
w	ə	s	ə	t	a			
Ins	ert ə			De	lete ə			
Gei	minate			Re	move Ger	mination		
• Glo	obal	O Le	ocal	Mo	odify	Cancel		

Figure 24. Editing transliteration.

The tool shall now show the preview of changes, highlighting the relevant occurrences (Figure 25).

Modify	ត់ថា 🖂	n" 🛛 🗍 Transliterated libanos-testGeT	a Ver5_2April2019.json	e 0
Token	ሕይዎ ፡	+ qatila	wa- ahəyəwo	1
w ə s t	a • • • •	makwannəna	şədq	
Insert a	Detote a FUA :	wə'ətu	za-'ənbala	
Geminate	Remove Gemination	adlawo	wa-kama	
Clobal O Local	Modify Cancel 07, 1	hamad	la-gime	
ዘይዘርዎ ፡	whav :	za-yəzarrəw-o	wa-kama	
ፍ ナナナ:	ውስተ ፡	fətatāt	wəsta	
ምድር ፡	ሰበረድ ፡	mədr	la-barad	
H.S.6.39 1	ወቃለ።	za-yəfennəw-o	waqāla	
H. AU- :	አትሊዎ:	zi'ahu	atəliwo	
በእሳተ ፡	04.8:	ba-'əsāta	dahāy	
ዘይመስዎ፣	056 ch 1	za-yəmasəw-o	ba-nafiha	
a036.0:	∆°7.€ :	manfas	la-māy	
ዘይክሪዎ ፡	ዘአንሶስወ ፣	za-yəkə'əw-o	za-'anəsosawa	
ውስተ ፡	ዓለም ፡	wəsta	ʿālam	

Figure 25

If you are satisfied with the result, you can click 'Modify' in order to introduce the changes, or 'Cancel' in order not to. Note that once the change has been performed, the automatically corrected tokens are NOT highlighted, so be careful when applying global corrections, especially for already annotated tokens.

The reverse operations (reintroducing the sixth-order vowel or removing gemination) are also possible.

The transliteration adjustments – including global ones – are possible also on already annotated tokens, even if they are marked as 'Complete'.

4.2.1. Workflow note

NB: You ought to first correct the transliteration in cases where it is relevant for correct tokenization. This happens for example in cases where assimilation of two consonants on the token boundary resulted in a single geminated consonant, represented by one symbol. E.g. in a graphic unit automatically transliterated as 'amanafas one should first introduce the consonant gemination of m in order to neutralize the assimilation and be able to tokenize correctly 'amman(a)fas, with the token boundary between the two consonants. Should one tokenize first (as 'a-manafas) and geminate afterwards, the result will be the wrong token splitting ('a-mmanfas).

4.3. Edits to fidal text

If you need to delete, correct, or insert a word, right-click on the relevant (or closest) graphic unit in the transliteration window. From the drop-down menu, select 'Delete GraphicUnit' if you want to completely remove a graphic unit, 'Replace GraphicUnit' if you want to correct an existing word, or 'Insert GraphicUnit Before' or 'Insert GraphicUnit After' if you want to add a missing word(s) (Figure 26).

If you attempt any of these operations, a warning pop-up window shall appear, asking confirmation. Click 'Yes' only if you are sure. Note that if the unit you want to delete or replace had been tokenized and/or annotated before, you will have to re-tokenize and re-annotate it once it has been reinserted (the transliteration must also be manually readjusted). If the unit you want to delete or replace is associated with a Named Entity, or there is a line or page break attached to the unit, you will not be able to remove it before you had deleted the relevant links. A dialogue box saying 'Graphic Units are part of a NE or contain PBs or LBs. Please check first the NE, PBs, and LBs and delete them' shall appear. In your workflow, it is therefore always advisable to edit the *fidal* text before introducing annotations and, in particular, links.

Note that the delete and insert actions imply the re-indexing of the entire file in the background which may take up to several minutes depending on the length and complexity of your file.

NB If you are replacing or inserting a word you must provide the *fidal* version for it – this means you must activate the *fidal* keyboard on your computer in order to type in the text in *fidal*. You can insert special symbols employed by the GeTa tool (\Box used for single omitted letters, e.g. in inscriptions, and ... used for ellipsis), which are absent from the *fidal* keyboard, by clicking directly on the corresponding symbols in the Insert box.



Figure 26

If a word in your edition is actually appearing in the source (manuscript or edition) written in two words and you would like to maintain the faithfulness of your *fidal* transcription, you can insert the separator character : after any letter. Right-click the relevant graphic unit in the *fidal* frame and select 'Insert Modify Fidal Separator' in the drop-down menu, the letter after which the symbol should be inserted, and type the symbol in the free text field (Figure 27). This change does not modify the transliteration or annotation.

እባዘ አብሔር	. (13.09	Pile s	እባዘ አ ደብሔር ፣	በእደዋቡ ፡
п пцп штрц	Vizualize Structure			n man • mmba •	111164.60
ለዓምደ ፡	Text Structure	» ^{p.} ?	1	ለዓምደ ፡	<u>ጽዮን</u> ፡
ንጉሥ ፡	Edition	› ትዮ	89:	37.W :	ኢትዮጵያ፣
αλ	Insert Modify Fidal Separator	• እ			cm2.0
m((an :	Line Break	1 00	wit: :	m(100 :	00 7 7 / Port
ንብረ ፡	Insert/Modify PB		A :	ንብረ ፡	መስቀል ፡
07	Delete PB	П,		07	
ቢደወ፰ዓመተ የ	L.	" አ	m te i	በደወ፰ዓመተ የ	00701/04F
አምዘ ፡	5	n ^a		አምዘ ፡	5910 :
ወዓመተ ፡	9	^р љ	ትሂ፡	ወዓመተ ፡	ምሕረትሂ ፡
ኟ፝፝፩፲፝ፚ፯		G		፝ <u>ዿ</u> ፟ዿ፟፲ <i>ወ</i> ፝፞ዿ	25

Figure 27

4.4. Errors

Some changes, in particular those implying editing transcription, *fidal*, and introducing tokenization, may occasionally lead to index conflicts. These could make further editing of a graphic unit or a token impossible. To look for errors, users can use the 'Verify Index' in the Help menu; besides, the tool automatically checks for inconsistencies at loading, in doubt, close your document and reopen. If there are consistency errors they will be shown in the 'Error' frame (Figure 28).

Show cursor position		់ ៨ 🛛	Show current word annotation		Error of 🖬 🕻
			samə Common Noun gender masculine ä Pronominal Suffix person/Third g	S number.SingularP SingularS case.Nominative status.Pronominal st ender.Feminine number.Singular lex.V	z <u>a-som-u-o</u> som- <u>ā-o</u> som- <u>ā-o</u> som-ā-o
					sam-a-a
Original AmdaSeyon.json			Transliterated AmdaSeyon.jse	1	sam-à-a
Original AmdaSeyon.json חסיין :	ወሐረ ፡	አምሆየ ፡	Transliterated AmdaSeyon.jse	• wa-hora	əməhəya
🗆 Original AmdaSeyon.json በመዓት : ወዐደወ :	ወሐረ ፡ ዐባየ ፡	አምህየ ፡ ፈለን ፡	Transitierated AmdaSeyon.jsd ba-maʿāt wa-ʿadawa	wa-ḥora ʿabāya f	əməhəya alaga

Click on the error to be taken directly to the relevant position in text and try to correct the error.

In some cases, the easiest way to correct an error is to replace the *fidal* graphic unit (as described in §4.3) and retokenize/reannotate it completely.

Besides index-relevant errors, some symbol combinations may sometimes produce conflicts that shall be experienced as an error by the user.

If all attempts at correcting (including replacing the graphic unit) failed, please contact the project team at <u>traces@uni-hamburg.de</u> for assistance.

4.5. Comments

At any moment of work, you can introduce comments, either by highlighting a graphic unit in a colour of your choice, or by typing in your comment, or preferably both, to draw attention to the commented unit (Figure 29).

elvās		za-darasa	a
'a'miro wa-hāymānot gabra 'əgzi'abəher wa-mankərāta 'əbbə	Replace GraphicUnit Insert GraphicUnit Before Insert GraphicUnit After Delete GraphicUnit Join Morphologically Split GraphicUnit Edit Transhiteration	məgbār-o za-kama l-ottu ta'āmərā la-bədu'	ta
auta	Comment GraphicUnit	Add color	
bə se	Tokenise	Add comment	per
manakos	Remove Tokens	'əşubāta	
wa-madmamā	NE	la-zəntu	
dahāv	Linguistic Annotation	haruh	

Figure 29

You can enter free text in the Comments in the comment field – whether for the graphic unit, or for text division (see § $\underline{7}$ below), or for Named Entity (see § $\underline{8}$ below), yet make sure that the tool does not accept certain special characters, in particular '*'. Note that Comments for single tokens should be provided in the 'Deep Annotation' frame during the 'Linguistic Annotation' process (see § 6.4 below and § 9.3 for an example of commenting).

4.6. Editorial mark-up

It is possible in the GeTa tool to introduce minimal editorial mark-up, such as marking reconstructed or missing letters or words, and introducing the beginnings of pages and lines. Editorial mark-up is carried out on the original *fidal* version of the text, in the left tool frame.

Supplied passages should be marked by introducing square brackets around them. Select the first/last word of the relevant passage and right-click for the drop-down menu. Select 'Edition' and click on the first/last letter of the word (Figure 30). In the pop-up window, choose '[' among the symbols to insert before the letter (or, respectively, ']' to insert after the letter). You can also comment your choice in the free text field.

ወወልያ	pr ,	1	Edition						•	a' 🖂
205	Vizualize Structure		Before		After					
ዋዥበ	Text Structure		[-		none	• 🕶				
ንጽ ሕ	Edition	Ø	Body Text	Default	- At @	B I II				
3 014 3	Insert Modify Fidal Separator 🕨	m	Body reat	Deldan	·A		<u>i</u> - <u>3</u> - 3			
ለ በቢ	Line Break									
ክርስቶ	Insert/Modify PB	A								
- т.т.Ф	Delete PB	8	Edit							
መመዲ	A •			ОК			Can	cel		

Other symbols that can be used include round brackets (), braces { }, and pointy (angle) brackets < >.

Use round brackets for abbreviation in the text, expanded by the editor, as in a(bc).

Use pointy brackets <abc> for letters erroneously omitted by the text, not restored by the editor.

Use braces {abc} for letters considered erroneous and superfluous by the editor.

Use square brackets [abc] for letters reconstructed by the editor and square brackets with ellipsis [...] for intelligible letters not reconstructed by the editor. See § 4.3 above on inserting ellipsis among *fidal* signs.

4.7. Line breaks and page breaks

Line and page breaks can be inserted at the beginning of the document and after each symbol.

4.7.1. Line breaks

Line breaks are numbered automatically beginning with 1; if you would like to change the number of the first line you can use the 'Set LB start number' option from 'View / Configure Annotations' menu (see Figure 31).

🕌 GeTa -	TraCES Annotati	ion Tool			
<u>F</u> ile	<u>H</u> istory	Show Window	Tools	View/Configure Annotations	Keyboards
LB 1 Level 1	ow cursor posit	ion l (Internal Nr.: 1)		Set LB start number Define/View text structure level Clear Structure View Text Structure Disable NEs	s
ि ० [%म	riginal 187GeTa	Ver5_25Juni18.json	ወልደ	1	□ 0
እሌ ብእ ንጉ	። ስየ ። ሥ ።		0ሚዳ። ሐሌ 🖻 አክ]	for first Line Break 1	=
ФН ФН ФН	1		ሕማ ረ.ይ. ሰበእ	OK Cancel	

Figure 31

To insert the first line break, point at the first graphic unit in the fidal text edition and right-click for the drop-down menu (Figure 32). Select 'Insert LB Before'. You can remove the first line break by clicking the 'Remove LB Before' in the same menu.

🗂 Ori	ginal RIE232.json	٥	ť 🛛
1 T OA	Vizualize Structure	ጊ <i>ለ</i> ፡	-
ውስ	Text Structure	መንገሣ ፡	
በወር	Edition	ተሕሳስ፣	
አማ	Insert Modify Fidal Separator	Â7. :	
	Line Break	1 m	
UM (Insert LB Before	<u>ለ²⁰</u> ሄ፡	
መウ	Remove LB Before	ለጊና :	
014	Page Break		
1100	Special Divisions	631r0 :	

To insert subsequent line breaks, select the relevant graphic unit and click through the 'Line Break' – 'Insert LB' menu to select the character after which the line break must be inserted (Figure 33). You can also insert a line break before the separator by selecting the appropriate menu box. You can remove the line break(s) by selecting 'Delete LB' in the same drop-down menu.

ሞተት	• 1		ጊሐ፥		
ውለተ	f		መንገሣ	1	
<u>ነወር</u> 1	Vizualize Structure		ተሕሳስ	f	
አሜ ፡	Text Structure	Þ	<u> </u>		
ለሥርቅ	Edition	Þ	አሜ፥		
መኅት	Insert Modify Fidal Separator	۲Þ,	A00.		
- /1	Line Break	Þ	Insert LB	a	
ነዕለተ	Page Break	•	Insert LB before 🕩	m	
n-1/6	Special Divisions	•	Delete LB	w	
አኔን።		_	<u> የረ</u> ኔ ፡	с 7	
]

Figure 33

The line number is visualized in the "Show curser position" frame above the text.

When you delete a line break, the following line breaks are renumbered automatically.

Note that it is not possible at the moment to insert a new line break between the already assigned line breaks.

4.7.2. Page breaks

To introduce the page number, use the 'Page Break' submenu (Figure 34). For the first page, select the first word and check the 'Before' box. You can enter the page number in the free text field. For the subsequent breaks, choose the last word preceding the break, and insert the break after by checking the 'After' box.

GeTa - TraCES Annotation To	ool								
<u>File H</u> istory S	how Window	Tools	View/Co	onfigure Annota	ations 1	Keyboards	I	Ielp	Automatic A
Show cursor position								Show motat Verb tar	v current word annot n:Perfect person:Th
Original RIE232.json		ጊሐ። መንገ	W :			□		motal	sliterated RIE232.js : ta
) 	ተሕሳ	រក់៖					ba-wa	arha
kon Insert Modify Fidal S	Separator •	Ά Ω vq	d Page Break						r ø 🗵
۲۳ Line Break Insert LB Before	•	hBody	ext 💌	Ethiopic Unicode	▼ Æ 🔻	<u>B</u> <u>I</u> <u>U</u>	=]=	EII	
Remove LB Before		<u>م</u> ۱							
Non Page Break Special Divisions	Insert PB Modify PB	(s) Edit	HTML						
Olor	Delete PB	[S]	Before	O After		Save			Cancel

Figure 34

Pages breaks are always numbered manually, there is no automatic control of consistency, and additional care is required from the annotator.

If you insert page breaks according to several editions or manuscripts, make sure to consistently disambiguate the sequences by preceding the number by a version-specific keyword (e.g. Dillmann 1 / Dillmann 2 / Dillmann 3 for page numbering in an edition by Dillmann, Bezold 1 / Bezold 2 for page numbering in an edition by Bezold etc.).

You can modify and delete page breaks using the same Page Break submenu.

In case of several source editions it is possible to introduce several page breaks at the same point in texts. The presence of several page breaks is visualized in the text by the upper case number, corresponding to the number of breaks (see Figure 35). Pointing at the page break number in the text will show which page number annotations have been assigned in the "Show cursor position" frame.

Show cursor position	د ۵ X	
PB Kropp 1PB Marrassini 1		
Level sentence: sentence 1 (Internal Nr.: 1)		
		_
Original AmdaSeyon.json		0
_{<pb></pb>} 2በስመ ፡	አብ ፡	
ወወልድ ፡	ወመንፌስ ፡	
ቅዱስ፡	፩አምሳክ <i>፡</i>	
ንጽ ሕፍ ፡	በረድኤተ ፡	
<u> እ</u> ግዚ እን ፡	ኢየሱስ፣	
ክርስቶስ ፡	ጎይለ ፡	
ወመዊአ ፡	ዘንብረ ፡	

Figure 35

When deleting a page break, in case multiple page breaks are attached to the same graphic unit, you can select which page break to delete by ticking off the relevant box in the Delete Page Break(s) frame (Figure 36). Note that if you want to delete two or more page breaks you should click "Save" as many times, as many are the page breaks that are being deleted.

PB Kropp 1PB Marrassin 1 Da .cvel seatence: sentence 1 (Internal Nr:1) Image: Common Noin gender unmarked number Singular P UnmarkedS case Nominative state Constant AmdaSeyon, Ison Original AmdaSeyon, Ison o' o' Original AmdaSeyon, Ison o' o' Packar Structure A'fl : DODA, C': Text Structure Packar Structure A'fl : DODA, C': Text Structure Packar Structure A'fl : Doda, C': Text Structure A'fl : Detection Doda, C': Text Structure A'fl : A'fl : Doda, C': Text Structure A'fl : Detection Body Text Detext B'fl : A'fl : Doda, C': Text Structure A'fl : Detext B'fl : A'fl : B'fl : B'fl : B'fl : B'fl : B'fl : Detext B'fl : Detext	oct state lex.A9°
Organal Anda Seyon, Joo Organal Anda Seyon, Joo Organal Anda Seyon, Joo P Organal Anda Seyon, J	of af 🛛
Organal Amda Sayon, Joo ・ の つ (and a Amda Sayon, Joo ・ の つ (and a Amda Sayon, Joo ・ の つ (and a Amda Sayon, Joo ・ の の (and a Amda Sayon, Joo ・ の (and a Amda Amda Sayon, Joo ・ の (and a Amda Amda Sayon, Joo ・ の (and a Amda Amda Amda Amda Amda Amda Amda A	n" (1)" (2)
anno-African : 大门: ののみた: Text Structure かったん: かうたん: かったい: たのでののはField Separator 人がつわ: かったい: 人がつわ: かったい: 人がつわ: かったい: 人がつわ: かったい: 人がつわ: たのでいたい: 人がつか: たのでいたい: 人がつか: たのでいたい: 人がつか: たのでいたい: 人がつか: たのでいたい: 人がつか: たのでいたい: 人がつか: たのでいたい: 人がつか: たのでいたい: 人がつか: たのでいたいたい: 人がつか: たのでいたい: 人がつか: たのでいたい: 人がつか: たのでいたいたい: 人がつか: たのでいたい: 人がつか: たのでいたい: 人がつか: たのでいたい: 人がつか: たのでいたいたい: 人がつか: たのでいたいたいたい: 人がつか: たのでいたい: 人がつか: たのでいたい: 人がつか: たのでいたい: 人がつか: たのでいたい: 人がつか: たのでいたい: 人がつか: たのでいたい: 人がつか: たのでいたい: 人がつか: 人がつか: たのでいたい: 人がついたい: 人がついたい: 人がついたい: たのでいたい: 人がついたい: 人がついたい: たのでいたい: 人がついたい: 人がついたい: 人がついたい: 人がついたい: たのでいたい: 人がついたい: 人がついたい: 人がついたい: 人がついたい: 人がついたい: たのでいたい: 人がついたい: 人がつい: 人がついたい: 人がつい: 人がついたい: 人がつい: 人がついたい: 人がつい: 人がついたい: 人がつい: 人がついたい: 人がつい: 人がつ: 人がつい: 人がつい: 人がつい: 人がつい: 人がつい: 人がつい: 人がつい: 人がつ:	
Dの人欠: Text Structure かのうんか: とのし、 たはDoor A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	
P字-わ: Edition 指令: Liave Break Liave Break Liave Break Liave Break	
Collon Readt Modify Hoal Separator 人名法士:	
TA de : Line Break	
ግዝ አን፡ Insert LB Before የበብ፡	r
COPO Remove LB Before	
Page Break Insert P0	
havin is special Divisions Modify PB(s)	

When modifying, you can simply modify the free text box and "Save".

5. Working with GeTa: Help functions

Several add-ons help the annotators in their work.

5.1. Show window

Use the 'Show Window' option in the top menu to open the frames showing the linguistic annotation of the highlighted word, the text structure (divisions) annotation, and the index errors (Figure 37). (All the three frames open automatically when the tool is loaded; the function is useful if any of them gets closed or hidden by mistake.)

Show cursor positio	and Annotation window	o 🖾 🖾	Show selected word's annotation		<u>ं व छ</u>
Level chapter: chapter Structu Error 1 Level sentence: se	Vindow stence I.T (Internal Nr.: T.T)		wa Conjunction lex 10 sama Common Noun gender unmarked n	amber Singular P Unmarked S case Nominative	state:Construct state lex.ስም
C:Users\EAE\Amda seyon Guid	VER18_12_10_11_42_20/Amda seyon GuideGeTa Ve	r5_25Juni18.json	C:IUsers/EAE/Amda seyon GuideV	ER18_12_10_11_42_20\Amda seyon GuideGeTa Ve	r5_25Juni18.json
በስመ :	አብ ፡	ወወልድ ፡	ba-səma	ab	wa-wald
00036.0:	ቅዱስ ፡	<u>፩</u> አምሳክ ፡	wa-manfas	qəddus	1-'amlāk
ጽሕፍ፣	በረድኤተ፣	አግዚ አን ፡	nəşhəf	ba-rad'eta	'əgzi'ə-na
ኒ የስ-ስ ፣	ክርስቶስ ፡	ጎ.ይለ ፡	'iyasus	krastos	hayla
Daven:	17-02 :	እግዚአብሔር ፣	wa-mawi'a	za-gabra	'əgzi'abəher
	19906	8.8.3 :	ba- odawi-hu	la-'āmda	savon
ገአደዊሁ ፡	11 // /11				

Figure 37

5.2. Tools: Search

At any moment of work, the Search function (under the 'Tools' menu) can be used. This way you can e.g. see whether a certain string – a graphic unit, token, or a sequence of units – is present in the text, and/or check how the graphic unit you are working on has been tokenized or annotated elsewhere (Figure 38).

You can search by entering the word (or part thereof) in the 'Search word' field both in *fidal* (except for when you look for an exact token match, see below) and in transcription; the results shall be shown in transcription.

In the results field, you can click on each result to jump to the relevant place in your text.

There are a number of search parametres that can be specified.

Note that the longer your text is and the more matches it contains, the longer the search may take, so it is always advisable to limit the search by selecting the appropriate search parametres.

(1) Context

You can define how many words (graphic units) before and after the graphic unit containing the search string should be displayed. If you do not enter any number, the default context of 10 graphic units before and 10 graphic units after shall be applied.

(2) Scope of search

In a drop-down menu, you can select whether the search should be carried out in the entire document (choose 'global') or only from the cursor position downward (choose 'From selected index').

(3) String matching

In a drop-down menu, you can select whether the text string you enter in the 'Search word' field must correspond to an entire graphic unit (select 'identical'), to an entire token (select 'is token'; note that in this case you must search in transliteration), whether it must appear at the beginning (select 'at the beginning') or the end of a graphic unit (select 'at the end'), or anywhere (select 'contained in').

(4) Annotation

If the linguistic annotation is irrelevant for your search, whether because it is inexistent or incomplete, or you want to find the string with all the possible annotations, in the annotation drop-down menu select 'no PoS annotation'.

If you want to look for your string only when it has been associated to a specific Part of Speech, select 'PoS annotated with' and then choose the appropriate PoS tag in the 'POS Gə^cəz' field.

If you want to only find cases where no linguistic annotation has been provided for your search string, select 'not annotated'.

The figure below shows the search results for the string $\hbar m$, with the context limited to five graphic units before and after, in the entire text ('global'), that can occur at any position within the graphic unit ('contained in') and that has been annotated as 'Common Noun'.

Search		r 0. X						
Search word	Context	PoS annotated with 💌						
∫\ <i>do</i> ⊅ global ▼ search	5	POS Gə'əz POS Gə'əz Common Noun Proper Name Proper Name Pronoun Verb Common Noun Proper Name Pronoun Finan Numeral Protected Finan Reference Particle Particle Pa						
5 results found ba-səma 'ab wa-wald wa-manfas qəddus 1- 'amlāk ba- 'ədawi-hu la- 'āmda şəyon nəguśa 'ityopyā <u>wa-səma</u> mangəśt-u gabra masqal ba-10-wa-8- 'āmata mangəśt-u wa- 'ādi yəbe kwəll-omu 'ahzāb 'agatu-ni <u>wa-ba-səma</u> 'əgzi'abəher mo'kəw-omu wa-zanta bəhilo tam 'a wa- 'alāwi 'ark-u la-saytān ta'abaya lā'la <u>səma</u> krəstos wa-yəbe dabtarā martul za-hallo 'əde-homu la-kalabāt wa- 'əz'əbt 'əlla 'i-ya'amməru <u>səma-ka</u> qəddusa . tazakkar 'əgzi'-o śəgā-ka								

Figure 38. Search window

5.3. Tools: Undo function

The 'Undo' function is currently under development.

5.4. Tools: Statistics

You can use the 'Statistics' function in the 'Tools' menu to see where you are at currently as far as the tokenization and the linguistic annotation are concerned (Figure 39). An additional graph is generated to show the share of graphic units consisting of more than one token.



Figure 39

5.5. Help: Linguistic Annotation Colours

Use the 'Linguistic Annotation Colors' button of the top 'Help' menu to visualize the colour coding overview, as summarized in Table 3. Colour and format coding in the GeTa tool.

Font colour / format in transliteration	Meaning
TNR black	Transliterated text
TNR black italic	Globally (automatically) tokenized unit
TNR black bold	Manual linguistic annotation provided
TNR red bold	Global (automatic) linguistic annotation
TNR red	Global (automatic) linguistic annotation complete
TNR blue	Manual linguistic annotation complete (final)
TNR underlined	Named entity
TNR green bold	Nouns (after 'Verify Nouns' check)

Table 3. Colour and format coding in the GeTa tool

5.6. Help: Verify Index

Use the 'Verify Index' function if you have carried out index-relevant corrections (deleting or inserting word unit, tokenizing, undoing) to make sure that the file is error-free. (May take several minutes, depending on the length of your file).

5.7. Help: Correct Line Break Nr

Use this function if you want to increase or decrease all line numbers in your text, *apart from the very first line number* (see Figure 40).

🗍 Original 187GeTa	ı ,json
1 <mark>% ዛና ፥</mark>	🔲 Correct LB numbers 📃 🗖 🖂
እሌ ፡	Increase/Decrease line break numbers with + V
ብእስየ ፡	ок

Figure 40

6. Working with GeTa: Linguistic annotation

The linguistic annotation is in the focus of the work with the GeTa tool. It is best carried out once your text has been corrected and tokenized (as then the 'global' function can best be applied, speeding up the annotation process), but naturally the user can also choose to normalize/tokenize/annotate graphic unit by graphic unit.

In order to insert the linguistic annotation, right-click the graphic unit in the transliteration text frame and select 'Linguistic Annotation' in the drop-down menu. If the unit consists of several tokens, you will now be able to choose the token you would like to annotate (see Figure 41).

ba-səma	àb	
wa-wa Insert Wordunit Be qəddus Insert Wordunit Aff nəşhəf Delete Wordunit Join Wordunits	wa-manfas 1-'amlāk ba-rad'eta	
əgzi ə Join Morphological krəstos Split Wordunit Edit Transliteration	jyasus bayla za-gabra	
'əgzi'a Tokenise la-ʿām Remove Tokens	ba-`ədawi-hu şəyon	
nəguśa ^{NE} Wa-sərha	 itvoivā Insert or Modify Annotation ba Delete Annotation 	
gabra	masqal	

Figure 41

6.1. Basic annotation: POS

In the Linguistic Annotation frame, you can now select the relevant PoS (Figure 42) – preferably by going down to the lowest possible branch of the POS tree.



You do not necessarily have to fill out the 'Deep Annotation' fields immediately – for some purposes it might be sufficient to simply assign all PoS. The 'Deep Annotation' features are not available if you have selected an upper-level category from the PoS tree where lower levels are available.

You can select whether the annotation you selected should be applied only locally ('Local' is checked as default) or globally (check 'Global' at the bottom of the frame). Global annotation shall be applied to all identical tokens throughout the text. It is best applied only if you are sure that the same token can only appear with the same or very similar function. After the action, all globally annotated units shall appear in red (Figure 43), reminding you that you have to confirm the correctness of the annotation and eventually modify the features (see also Table 3. Colour and format coding in the GeTa tool).

Iransliterated Amda_seyon_GuideGeTa Ver5_25Juni18.json						
ba- səma	`ab					
wa-wald	wa-manfas					
qəddus	1-`amlāk					
nəşhəf	ba-rad'eta					
`əgzi`ə-na	iyasus					
krəstos	<u>þ</u> ayla					
wa-mawi'a	za-gabra					
'əgzi'abəher	ba -'ədawi-hu					

Figure 43

If you want to correct or continue your annotation at a later point, repeat the first step as shown in Figure 41, this will take you back to the Linguistic annotation frame.

6.2. Linking to dictionary

In the 'Linguistic annotation' frame, you can also provide the link to the dictionary file, to uniquely define the lexical value of each token. Again, for some purposes this may be the only step you will choose to carry out.

(1) If the lemma is already present in the dictionary database, the easiest way to link it is through the 'Select lemma' option. You can scroll through the alphabetical list, or start typing (use Ethiopic keyboard) your lemma in order to get to the correct place in the alphabet quickly. If there are several homographs, select the fitting lemma in the alphabetical list, check if the translation summary

(originating mostly from the *Lexicon linguae Aethiopicae* by Dillmann, and thus in Latin) fits your needs, and finally click 'Assign'. Now you will see the Lemma ID in the relevant field of the annotation window (Figure 44).

Pees Preposition Select Lemma #%(C,P'C) #%(C,P'C) Lemma M Select Lemma #%(C,P'C) #%(C,P'C) #%(C,P'C) Deep Annotation Insert Lemma BM #%(C,P'C) #%(C,P'C) #%(C,P'C) Deep Annotation Beep Annotation #%(C,P'C) #%(C,P'C) #%(C,P'C) #%(C,P'C) Deep Annotation Beep Annotation #%(C,P'C) #%(C,P'C) #%(C,P'C) #%(C,P'C) #%(C,P'C) Ceep Annotation Beep Annotation #%(C,P'C) #%(C,P'C)	C Linguistic Annotation ba	o 🗹 🖂	Ge'ez Lexicon		o' d' 🛽
Pos Preposition Salect Pos Lemma Mi 9/b00/029/cb3505bd6ca300-0 Select Lemma BMi Deep Annotation Insert Lemma BMi Deep Annotation Deep Annotation I complete In the part? I complete G Gobal Complete	Pos Proposition Lemma M Deep Annotation Complete Annotation Annotatie Clear Linguistic Annotation ba	Select PoS Select Lemma Insert Lemma BM Deep Asnotation is NE part? Global-Complete Cancel	Search for Lemma Assign	ቆጽር ይኖስ ቀጽ ሮስ ቀጽ ሮስ ቀፍ በ በ በ በ በ በሃሊ በሃም በለለ	pracpos. insepar. [↓, □,]; c. Pron, suff. flf : (etiam fl, f : ex. gr. Marc. 1,24 rom.; Joh. 2,4 rom.; in Cod. Abb. LV Jer. 46,18; Hez. 3,14 al.), flf :, flh : flh
Anastate Cased	PoS Prepaillon Lemma Id 991b0040249cb3505bd6ea3010- Deep Annotation Complete Locat Global Annotation Complete Code Clobal	Select PoS Select Lemma Insert Lemma BM Deep Annotation Global Complete Global Complete			

Figure 44

(2) Alternatively, or if you fail to find the lemma through the 'Select lemma' option (a live API connection is envisaged but is not yet in function), you can search for the lemma directly in the lexicon web app, <u>http://betamasaheft.eu/Dillmann/</u> (Figure 45).

→ C (O Not secure betam	asahefteu/Dillmann/7mode=no	ne8xq=#%208xd= <mark>1295788/91000407966350</mark>	xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx
xicon Linguae Aethiopicae	Login - Hi guest!	About Browse Bibliograp	phy Reverse Index Abbreviations Citations Get involved Tutorial Organizations
n			a 0 + Q
Search mode Normal, with homophones	•	Search only in citations	
column number	Go	of.	Dillmann
You found "N " in 32	3 entries!		
HH HH 1 2 3 4	5 6 7 8 9 1	₩ ₩	fem. ባ፣ vel ባቱ፣ , m. ቦሙ fem. ቦን፣ vel ቦቶን፣ Num. 32,17 ፴ vel ቦንቱ፣ (Ex. 12,16 ፴ ; Num. 14,34 ፴ ; Deut 27,6 ፴ ; Zach. 14,21 ፴).
	8		1) de loco,
	en. 6,15; ይትሜስል፡ በ 366; ጎብረ፡ በ፡ Clem. f.	በሰይጣን፡ F.M. 3,1; ተዐርዮ፡ <mark>በ</mark> ፡ Jsp. p. 164	a) in quo quid est vel esse cogitatur: in ⁱⁿ , fluf: mb#zñ: in templo ⁱⁿ Matth. 12,5); flk7: in ploteis ⁱⁿ Matth. 12,19); fluf/mb37: in coelis ⁱⁿ Matth. 12,50); fluf#SC Eph. 1,10); flh7: h40-b51: Luc. 7,17); fli: flh4: mb41. 14.10); mb87: mb87: mb40: 13.2); flh4: fli: flh4: h40-b51: Luc. 7,17); fli: flh4: mb41. 14.10); mb87: mb87: mb40.2); fli: flh4:
	ን፡ F.M. 3,1; ተዐርዮ፣ በ 164. Nota etiam: ፭፻ i	ነ፡ Jsp. p. 366; ኅብረ፡ <mark>በ</mark> ፡ Clem. f. በ፩፻ ርቡ	ግብጽ፥ Ex. 3,16 (ቷ) ፣ በሉቅል፥ Ex. 5,1 (ቷ) ፣ በጌራራ፥ Gen. 26,1 (ቷ) ፣ Gen. 26,19 (ቷ) ፣ በመቅፁት፣ Lev. 2,7 (ቷ) ይቤ፣ በልቡ፥ Gen. 27,41 (ቷ) ፣ በመንፈሰ፥ ዘአሁ፥ 1 Par. 28,12 (ቷ) ፣ በህየ፥ Matth. 22,11 (ቷ) ፣ Gen. 26, (ቷ) 21
	6; ኀብረ፡ በ፡ Clem. f. 164. Nota etiam: ፴፻ ፻፴፻ ርቡዕ፡ (longitudine) quingentos a		በነቸየ Jud. 18,3 [፱]; በእይቱ፣ Ruth 2,19 [፱]; በዶግም፣ secundo loco ^{ie} Num. 2,16 [፱]; በዓልነ tertio loco ^{le} Num. 2,24 [፱]; አምጽአም፣ በዕራቱ፣ ኅቢዮ፣ 1 Reg. 19,15 [፱]; ቦቱ፣ ሀለውነ፣ 1 Joh. 2,5 [፱]; 1 Joh. 2,6 [፱].

Figure 45

Subsequently you can link by providing the ID (highlighted in Figure 45) in the 'Insert Lemma BM' field (Figure 46): enter the lemma ID in the 'Search for ID' field, click 'Search Lemma', and, if you are happy with the search result, click 'Assign'. This will bring you to the same result as in (1).

🔲 Linguistic A	Annotation b	a	් ල් 🛛	🛛 🗖 Ge'ez Lexicon	- d 🛛
PoS	Preposition		Select PoS	Search for ID Lemma	L79528bf91b00402f9cb3505bd6ea3010
Lemma Id	f91b00402	Bcb3505bd6ea3010-	n Select Lemma	Lemma	
			Insert Lemma BM		Sir. 17,9; Cant. 8,8; λΑΓ: Ηλλσυζ: Γου-: (wußte um sie) 2 Reg. 17,19. γ) λση: vel τσηλ: Γ: Matth. 12,20; Jes. 28,16;
Deep Annotation	ו		Deep Annotation		Jon. 3,5; Eph. 1,12; ሐስወ : በ : Jer. 5,12 var.; ክሕዴት : በአማዚ አብሄር : Sir 23 23: δ) ሪኮስ : በ : Lev 11 43: Lev 18 24:
			is NE part?		ተ ቀ ደለነ ፡ በ ፡ Hez. 28,22; አሴባሕ ፡ በ ፡ Ex. 8,18; ሥምረ ፡ በ ፡ Jud. 5,8; ተ ዐቅሬ ፡ በ ፡ Sir. 23,8. ε) (contra): አሕሥመ ፡ በ ፡ Ex. 5,23; ንግሩ ፡ ብየ ፡ 1 Reg. 12,3 var.; አስማዕኩ ፡ ብኩ ፡ 3 Reg. 3,42 var.; ሰባ ፡ ተ አዘዘ ፡ በሙ ፡ ስንን ፡ አክይስት ፡ Sap. 16,10; ት ተ ቈ ና ደዩ ፡
Complete	O Loca	I 🔾 Global	Global-Complete		All? Job 19,5; {DL.0481} HK/HC : ILC <i>P</i> ? : Ex. 6,1; Deut. 3,6; p) de 1 : penes vid. mox sub 0 : c. pron. suff. ; coll. Hen. 37,5. — Permultis aliis praepositionibus et conjunctioni $h\sigma \mathbf{p}$; q.
Annot	ate	Clear	Cancel	Search Lemma	Assign

Figure 46

(3) If you cannot find the lemma in the online application either, you can create a new dictionary entry if you have the access rights, or contact the project team with the request by choosing the 'report issue' button in the top menu of the web app (see Figure 45) or emailing the editors.

6.3. Completing annotation

Once you believe you have entered all the data expected (e.g. for the conjunction ω , no additional features are requested, therefore even if you aim at a detailed morphological 'deep' annotation, nothing must be entered in the 'deep annotation' field) you can tick off the 'Complete' box to signal that the annotation is final to your opinion. You can also choose the 'Global-Complete' option (see Figure 46) if you are sure that this token must be annotated in the same way throughout. Note that this makes all occurrences appear in blue as if they were manually checked, so only use the 'Global-Complete' option if you are absolutely sure (see Figure 53).

You can always see the linguistic annotation in the 'Show current word annotation' frame above the text (Figure 47).

<u>F</u> il	e <u>H</u> istor	y Sl	wor	Window	Tools	View A	Annotations	Keyboards	Help	A	Automatic Annotation
	3 Show cursor	oosition							_		☐ Show current word annotation ba Preposition lexΩ
	Original Amo	a_seyon_(GuideG	ieTa Ver5_25Ju	ini18.json <mark>አብ</mark> ፡						☐ Transliterated Amda_seyon_GuideGeTa Ver5_25Juni18.json ba-səma 'ab

Figure 47

If you have realized that the annotation was erroneous, and it is too late for an Undo, you can always modify or even delete annotation by selecting the relevant option from the drop-down menu (see Figure 48). In the delete frame, you can also choose, once again, whether your changes are to be applied locally or globally.



Figure 48

6.4. 'Deep' annotation

In the GeTa tool, detailed morphological annotation is referred to as 'deep annotation'. Naturally, for some PoS (conjunctions or particles) no additional features are requested, thus the POS annotation as described above is the maximum level of detail available. For other POS, such as nouns or verbs, a varying number of features is available and can be assigned with the help of the tool (see Table 1 for the PoS and respective features).

After assigning the part of speech, in the 'Linguistic Annotation' frame (see Figure 44), select the 'Deep Annotation' button. You will see the list of available features, depending on the part of speech selected (see Figure 49 for noun, Figure 50 for verb). Features that are not applicable are (or become, depending on your choices in the annotation) deactivated and, if at all shown, appear in grey.

	ด้เสี	Transiterate	f Amda_seyon_GuideGeTa Ver5_25Juni18.json	e" (3)	
	*	ba-səma	'ab	-	
I Linguistic	: Annotation sama	ໍ ດີ 🛛	Deep Annotation	ំ ជី 🗵	
Pos	Common Noun	Select PoS	1000	Namber	
Lemma Id	:7a9f4b1dbf648087aea8d6de A9*	Select Lemma	Gender	Pattern 🛞 Singular	
		Insert Lemma BM	L masculine L failure	O Plural extern	
Deep Annotation	ion	Deep Annotation	Pattern	O Plazal intern	
			🖂 Syntax	O Plural of the plural	
			ternisise Diatare	Otomarket	
	Carrier Carrier of	is NE part?	🛄 Pattern	Suntar Discustor	
Complete	Local O Global O (lobal Complete	🗋 Syntax	Shorty P subtrai	
Ado	otate Gear	Cancer	🖉 unmarked	Li Para	
		gabra		2 Unmarked	
		ba-10-wa-	Case	State	
		JIII-ZA	Nominative	Absolute State	
		5 1 10 mg	C Accusative	Construct State	
		bachaf.ke	O Vocative	Pronominal State	
		mashafa	Comment		
		natioman	Body Text 💌 Ethiopic Unicode 💌 🗛	8 8 7 U HE	
		radā'e	A comment can be provided here		
	*	utatas_	Edit HTML		
			45	100	

🔲 Original /	🔲 Linguistic A	Annotation nəşhəf	rø"⊠	Deep Annotation		r و ا
በስመ ፡	PoS	Verb	Select PoS	Tense-Aspect-Mod	e	Person
ወወልድ	Lemma Id	'70475ab06fe1be64b0ce2e Я.н.с.	Select Lemma	Perfect	Imperative	First
ቅዱስ፣			Insert Lemma BM	Imperfect	Gerund	Second
ንጽ ሕፍ	Deep Annotation	n	Deep Annotation	Subjunctive	Infinitive	◯ Third
እግዚእካ				Gender		
ክርስቶስ					culine	Number
ወመዊአ			is NE part?	0 mas	cuine	 Singular
<u>እግዚአ</u>	Complete	🖲 Local 🛛 🔾 Global 🔍	Global-Complete	🔾 femi	nine	Plural
ለዓምደ	Annot	ate Clear	Cancel	com	munis	
37.00 :	,	ኢትዮጵ <i>ያ</i>	1	Case		Status
ወስመ ፥		መንግሥቱ	: 1	O Nom	inative	O Absolute State
7712 :		መስቀል ፡		O Acci	Isative	O Construct State
በ፲ወ፰ዓ	መተ ፡	ゆうりんけ	: 1	O Voca	itive	Pronominal State
አምዘ ፡		ካግሥ ፡		Comment		
ወዓመተ	1	ምሕረትሂ	1	Body Text 👻 Default	- A	
<u>ឝ</u> ឝឝ <u>ឝ</u>		25				
ንጽ ሕፍነ	Ն ք	ዘንተ ፡				
መጽሐራ	. 1	አንዘ ፡		Edit HTML		
ንትአመ	7:	አበ ፡			Assign	

Figure 50

For numerals, you can additionally provide the Arabic number in the 'Logogram' field (Figure 51).

	📋 Linguistic A	Annotation 10		r ⊠ ⊠	Deep Annotation	r 🛛 🛛
🔲 Original A	PoS	Cardinal Numera	l	Select PoS	Gender	
በስመ ፡	Lemma Id			Select Lemma	masculine	Number
ወወልድ				Insert Lemma BM	⊖ feminine	Singular
ቅዱስ፣	Deep Annotatior	1		Deep Annotation		O Plural
ንጽ ሕፍ						
እግዚእካ					Case	Status
ክርስቶስ				is NE part?	 Nominative 	Absolute State
ወመዊአ	Complete	Local	🔾 Global	Global-Complete		Construct State
እግዚአ ፡	Annot	ate	Clear	Cancel		O Pronominal State
ለዓምደ ፡			<u>ጽዮን</u> ፡		Logogram	
37.00 :			ኢትዮጵ	<u>,</u> P :		
ወስመ ፡			መንግሥ	nt :	Body Text Default	
7712 :			መስቀል	1		
በ፲ወ፰ዓ	መተ ፡		መንግሥ	mi :		
አምዘ ፡			<u> ነግሥ</u> ፡		Edit	
ወዓመተ	1		ምሕረት	ሂ፣		Assign



Select the features that apply in each specific case. The most widespread options are marked as default. Click 'Assign' in the 'Deep Annotation' frame to save the features, and finally 'Annotate' in the 'Linguistic Annotation' frame.

Note that if a noun or a verb are used as a name or part of name you can tick 'is NE part'. This will allow you to eventually search for all words (whether common nouns or verbs) that have been used in names in Ethiopic (Figure 52). This feature is distinct from linking the named entities to the authority files.



Figure 52

6.5. Local and global changes

Do not forget to select whether you are annotating this single instance (by selecting 'Local') or all instances of this token (by selecting 'Global'). In the former case, the instance shall be highlighted in bold, to show that the linguistic annotation is present but possibly not yet complete. In the latter case, all automatically annotated instances will be additionally highlighted in bold red font (see Table 3. Colour and format coding in the GeTa tool), to remind you that the annotation should be checked manually.

Use 'Complete' (or 'Global-Complete') if you are sure you provided the whole set of data and you will not be changing anything in the annotation. In such case the instance (or, respectively, all instances) of the token shall be highlighted in blue.

The 'Complete' marking (evidenced as blue colour) does not deactivate the local annotation function and if necessary, the annotation can still be modified or completed. Yet, the 'Complete' marking does prevent the tool from applying global changes, except for the transliteration (globally applied corrections to transliteration will also be applied for the tokens marked as 'Complete').

 You can always apply 'Global Complete' annotation to, e.g., particles without features, such as ssa = Other Particle lex: \u00f3 or
- conjunctions
$wa = Conjunction lex \theta$
- most verbs in the perfect form, e.g.
<i>kong</i> = Verb tam:Perfect person:Third
gender:Masculine number:Singular lex:ኮነ
<i>yabe</i> = Verb tam:Perfect person:Third
gender:Masculine number:Singular lex:
NB: there are exceptions here, e.g. the string 1-fl2 may
correspond to either a Verb (tam:Perfect person:Third
gender:Masculine number:Singular lex:ንብረ ID
L0eb8ac47c3fe4e9db66fdff97a061550) or a Common Noun
(gender:masculineN number:SingularP UnmarkedS
case:Accusative state:Absolute state lex:ንብር ID
La1dde44e977e4102ad0073db0a0588c4): in this and other
such cases no 'Global' changes are advisable



7. Working with GeTa: Text structure

One of the annotation levels possible with the GeTa tool is marking up the text structure. This step can precede the linguistic annotation, or also be the only action carried out with the tool, if requested.

7.1. Introducing levels

First, the structure levels must be defined. Up to four hierarchical levels are possible. They can be specified by selecting 'Define/View text structure level' in the upper menu (Figure 54).

File	History	Show Window	Tools	View Annotations	Keyboards	Help	
	how cureor positiv	20		Define/View text s	tructure levels	്ക്തി	X
	now cursor position	л		Clear Structure		0 H H	
				View Text Structu	re	•	Ξ
				View NEs		•	
							-

Figure 54

Up to four levels can be defined. The user can select the division subtype from a menu (book / chapter / part / section / poetic verse line / sentence / segment), choose a general name the division shall be saved with (it can but does not have to coincide with the subtype) and set the first value of the numeric sequence (Figure 55).



Figure 55

The default value is '1', but if you are annotating a piece of text beginning with a higher number you can specify it here.

Note that once the levels have been defined and assigned, you cannot easily modify them any more. E.g. if you initially only select 2 levels, book and chapter, assign the spans, and later want to additionally introduce the levels for sentence or verse you cannot do it without removing the existing divisions.

Once you have selected all levels you can click 'OK'. The tool will then offer you to carry out the automatic sentence recognition (Figure 55). If you select 'yes', all sentences limited by the punctuation sign '#' shall be automatically recognized and numbered, using the lowest level category in your selected text structure. Thus, if you want your sentences numbered, the lowest level should be defined as 'sentence'. If you accept the automatic sentence numbering and later discover that one sentence should be split into two, or merged with another, you can manually reassign the spans as described below. If sentence numbering should not be carried out in your text, select 'No' to save your text structure levels. The automatic sentence recognition can only be carried out once, at the very

beginning of the text division mark up. If you select 'No' you cannot carry out the automatic sentence recognition any more.

7.2. Assigning spans

Once the text structure levels have been defined, you can assign them to the text.

If you have opted 'Yes' for automatic sentence recognition, your sentence-spans have already been assigned, which you can see by the colour brackets highlighting of the first and last unit of the span. The 'show cursor position' frame informs you, in which sentence you currently are (Figure 56).

Show cursor position		r ⊠ ⊠
Level sentence: sentence 1 (Internal N	Ir.: 1)	
		•
Original Amda_seyon_GuideGeTa V	er5_25Juni18.json	r 0
በስመ ፡	አብ ፡	Ê
ወወልድ ፡	ወመንፌስ ፡	=
ቅዱስ፣	<u> ፩</u> አምሳክ ፡	_
ንጽ ሕፍ ፡	በረድኤተ ፡	
እ ግዚ እን ፡	<u>ኢ</u> ኖሱስ ፣	
ክርስቶስ ፡	ግድለ ፡	
ወመዊአ፡	ዘንብረ ፣	
እ ግዚአ ፡ብሔር ፡	በእደዊሁ ፡	
ለዓምደ ፡	ጽዮን ፡	
ንጉሥ፡	<u>ኢ</u> ትዮጵ <i>ያ</i> ፣	
ወስመ ፡	መንግሥቱ፡	
ንብረ ፡	መስቀል ፡	
በ፲ወ፰ዓመተ ፡	መንግሥቱ፡	
እምዘ ፡	49W :	
ወዓመተ ፡	ምሕረትሂ ፡	
<u>፝</u> ፚ፝ፚፚ ፚ	11	
ዓድ አናክ	ዘንታ ፣	

Figure 56

To introduce new spans, select the first word of the span in the *fidal* text frame and right-click to open the drop-down menu. Choose the 'Insert Division' option from the menu (Figure 57).

0 🗂	riginal Amda_seyon_GuideGeTa	Ver5_25Juni	18.json 🗖	Ø
በስ	Vizualize Structure]	አብ ፡	•
ወወ	Text Structure	Divisions 🕨	Modify Division Information >	=
ቅዳ	Edition	Head	Insert Division	
32	Insert Modify Fidal Separator 🕨	Quotation	Delete Division	
/ብ እግ	Line Break		ኢየሱስ፣	
ክር	Delete PB		ግድለ ፡	

Figure 57

Now fill the fields in the 'Insert Structure Annotation' frame. The first graphic unit should be filled automatically (this is the word you selected). Scroll to the last graphic unit (in most cases, sentence punctuation signs) of the division you would like to select and click 'Last GraphicUnit' to fill in the corresponding box in your frame.

Select the division subtype (from the types you defined) and the name you would like to be associated with the division (free text, can also be 'Prologue', 'Introduction', etc.). The Internal number is the one assigned automatically, yet you can also provide a free text number which can be different. In the 'Style' field you may select the genre keyword best fitting with the text (from a drop-down list). In the 'Creator' field you have the choice between 'Edition', meaning that the structural unit is already present in the edition your work is based upon, and 'Annotator', if you are the one who have introduced the structure level. As always, you are free to provide Comments in the free text field (Figure 58).

Insert Structure Annotation	r 9 X
First GraphicUnit	ካሱ
Last GraphicUnit	
Division Type	-
Division Name	
Division Internal Number	
Division Number	
Style	-
Creator	Edition
Comments	
Body Text Default	
Edit HTML	
ОК	Cancel

Figure 58

The Division Name, Division Number, Style, and Creator fields, as well as Comments, can also be modified later by selecting 'Modify Division Information' (see Figure 57).

Make sure you select all levels you want to be visualized under 'View Text Structure' (Figure 59).

🚹 GeTa	TraCES Annotati	ion Tool Ver5_25Juni18					
File	History	Show Window	Tools	View Annotations	Keyboards	Help	A
	how cursor posit	ion (Internal No. 1)		Define/View text str Clear Structure	ucture levels	o (2)	×
Leve	000K. 000K 1	(internal Nr.: 1)		View Text Structure	· ·	≤ Level	1
	Level	hapter: chapter 1.1.1 (Ir	stemal Nr.: 1.1	View NEs	,	≝ Level	2
		Level sentence: s	sentence 1.1.1.	1 (Internal Nr.: 1.1.1)		≚ Level	3
	Original Amda_se	yon_GuideGeTa Ver5_25J	uni18.json			⊭ Level	4
<u>n</u>	1 ⁰⁰ 1		አብ፣				Î
Фа	ወልድ ፣		ወመን	ሩስ ፣			н
ቅዳ	ትስ፣		<u> </u>	ង៖			
38	ስፍ ፣		በረድፖ	6 4 1			
አባ	ዚእነ፣		ኢየሱስ	11			
ิทต	ስቶስ ፣		ጎይለ።				
æσ	ወዊአ፡		ዘንብረ	:			
አግ	ቢአ የበሐ	.C 1	በአደዊ	U- 1			
ለዓ	ምደ፡		ጽዮን፡				
37	w i		ኢትዮ	ጵያ፣			
ወስ	<i>a</i> • :		መንግ	wd::			
2.0	21		መስቀ	h :			
0Ţ	ወ፰ዓመተ	:	መንግ	w			
አዎ	°H :		ነግው :				
ወዓ	and :		ምሕረት	ትሂ ፣			
Ğĝ	፲ወ፯		::				

Figure 59

Continue the steps as described above to introduce further divisions. Note that the spans may not overlap; if you attempt to introduce an overlapping span you shall receive a warning message from the tool.

If you need to introduce a custom overlapping span, use the Insert Special Division option in the dropdown menu (See Figure 60).

አጌዛት ፡		ወእለእለ ፡	Add Special	<u>ก/ห.</u>
አግዝን ፡		ወሞቀሕነ፡	Division Name	
ንጉሥ፥		አጌዛት ፡	Division Number	
コよのらり	Vizualize Structure	ሊሞቀሕና	Style	
ጸዋሬ ፡	Edition	መንበሩ ፡	Creator	Edition
ኮ <u>ነና</u> ሆመ	Insert Modify Fidal Separator 🕨	ለሰር" ዌ ፣	Comments	Body Text V Default V A O B I U E E & 4 4 8 0 D E
ወለነገሥ	Line Break Page Break	ሰራዊት ፡		
ይሐፍ፥	Special Divisions	Insert Special Div.		Edit
ወይቢቱ	1	Modify Special Div(s) Delete Special Div(s)	Save	Cancel

7.3. Editing spans

The easily editable information is, as shown above, Division Name, Division Number, Style, and Creator fields, as well as Comments. If you would like to modify the span itself, make it shorter or longer, you have to delete it by using the 'Delete Division' option and manually recreate the new spans.

You can also use the 'View Annotations' menu to clear the entire document structure ('Clear Structure' command): you will then have to redefine and reassign all text structure levels from the beginning.

8. Working with GeTa: Named entities

The GeTa tool allows for marking up all named entities, that is all real-world objects, such as persons, locations, titles, and dates.

8.1. Places, persons, works

All unique persons or places can be linked to the authority files stored on <u>http://betamasaheft.eu/</u> (BM), a database that should contain information on all persons and places relevant for Ethiopian and Eritrean manuscript culture.

In the transcription frame, select the word unit(s) that correspond to a named entity and right-click for a drop-down menu. Select NE -> Insert / Modify NE (Figure 61).



Figure 61

In the 'Insert NE' frame, tick off the tokens to be associated with the named entity, and then select the named entity type (Figure 62).

eshead die				(a) Theorem		al boundary	
sabraddin			in an and the second	e Liyasus		KI JSLOS	
Person		O Place	Organisation	Person		O Place	Organisation
Title		Work	 Date 	O Title		O Work	O Date
Abbreviation				Abbreviation			
dy Text	- Default	- A @ B		Body Text	- Default	- A @ B I	
dit HTML	Search type	AND	○ OR	Edit	Search type	. AND	O OR
	Authortiy Lists	Link	-		Authortiy Lists	Link	-
	Type NE Id		Check		Type NE Id	1	Check

You can then try to search for the named entity directly in the BM database by clicking the 'Link' button. If an item (or more than one item) with identical spelling is present there, it (they) should pop up in the search result(s).

Click on the results box to check whether there is a list of options available (Figure 63).

Insert NEsabraddin			r ي ک
🗹 sabraddin			
Person	⊖ Place	○ Organisation	
⊖ Title	◯ Work	⊖ Date	
Abbreviation			
Body Text 💌 Default			
Edit HTML			
Search type	AND	O OR	
Authortiy Lists	Link	Şabraddin b. Ādam	_
Type NE Id		Şabraddin b. Ādam	
		Şabraddin b. Sa⊔daddin Abu I-Barakat Muḥammad Sabraddin I Muhammad h. Dalhūv	
<tei x<br=""><teiheader> <filedesc> <htlestmt></htlestmt></filedesc></teiheader></tei>	mlns="http://www.tei-c.org/ns/1.0" typ	Şabraddin I Muḥamındə b. Dalhüy Şabraddin I Muḥamındə b. Dalhüy = Abū Bakr b. □Ali b. Şabraddin □Ali b. Şabraddin Aḥmad Harb □Ar□ad b. □Ali b. Şabraddin Haydarā	
Si	we	Cancel	

Figure 63

If the correct option is available, select it from the list and check the associated metadata in the preview field below that the selection. If you are satisfied with the result, click 'Save' to associate the

named entity with the authority file. The name in the text is now underlined to show that a NE has been associated.

If the search has been unsuccessful (no results, or results do not contain the person or place you were looking for) it probably means that there is a difference in spelling. In particular, the search for multi-word named entities via the tool may come up empty (Figure 64).

🔲 Insert NE'iyasus	krəstos			r 0' X
🗹 🗆 iyasus			🖌 krəstos	
Person		O Place	0	Organisation
 Title 		Work	0	Date
Abbreviation				
Body Text 💌	Default	▼ A [±]	B I U E	
Edit HTML	Search type	AND		⊖ or
	Authortiy Lists		Link	
	Type NE Id			Check
<font face="Ethiop</th><th>ic Unicode">No	Items found <th>ont></th> <th></th>	ont>		

Figure 64

In such case, go directly to the BM database and use the simple or (recommended) advanced search mask there. You can use the transliterated version or also the simplified transliteration without special diacritical symbols. Not all authority files have yet been supplied with the fidal name forms, therefore do not rely on a search in fidal (even if it is possible). For internationally known names you may also try the standardized English name form (Figure 65).

Beta maş	ähəft							7.4	-				3		
Login -	Hi guest! Clavis	Manuscripts	Places	Persons	Resources	ACHTUNGI	newissue	contact us	Jesus		۹ م	• Search +	# 0		
General ^{Text}	Search Options Jesus	0		Please cli text sean	ick on the info ch) button for mo	re information	about the	Hide/9 You fo	show search filters ound "Jesus" in 4 InType: 1 work types	results	dr			
Indexes	Abstracts Colophons Descriptions Explicits		ii.	If you do perstane source fil	n't select anyt and title, i les most likely	thing, the text s which are the e r to contain sea	earch will look lements in the rchable text	into ab , XML	1	Jesus Christ (PRS5684JesusCh)	0	Jesus Christ 'Iyosus Krəst Gesü Cristo	os lesus Christ A l esus Christus Typoliç i	(ριστ	
Contains reference to	* ID • Title	of the entity		Enter her looking f If more t have to o	re a stable id v or. You can al hen one, plea occur.	which should o so start typing se separate wit	ccur in the reco a title to get su h comma. Boti	rd you are ggestions. 1 ids will	2 3	Jesus the son of Sirach (PRS5685Jesusth) John the Baptist (PRS5741Johnthe)	0	esus the son _ esus the son _ f Sirach esu _ ved that he b Jordan in 29	of Sirach m of Sirach g ben Sira Joshua ibn S. aptised Jesus Christ an	the river	
Look up by ID	type the id of th	ie entity or part of	ne -	Type an i record yo	id or part of a ou are looking	n id which shou for.	ld occur or ide	ntify in the	4	Afawarq Gabra Tyasus	0	_a Tyasus Afer	ork Ghevre Jesus		
Search only a type of entity	Manuscripts Works Narratives Persons Places Repositories			Select m	ore general fil	ters				(1931-121-160-1944)					
more general filters	language keywords relation types date range			Select m	ore general fi	ters									
more specific filters SEARCH (Choose a data	type	•	Select to	see a list of a	vailable specific	filters								



Once you have found out the ID of the authority file, you can insert it directly into the 'Insert NE' mask of the GeTa tool by clicking the 'Type NE Id' button (Figure 66). Click 'Check' to see the results in the preview field and 'Save' if you are happy with the result.

🔲 Insert NE'iyasu	s krastos				- d 🖂
✓ □iyasus		F	krəstos		
Person		Place	C	Organisatio	m
 Title 		Work	C	Date	
Abbreviation					
Body Text	Default	▼ A 🔍	BIU		
Edit HTML					
	Search type	AND		OR	
	Authortiy Lists	Lii	ık		
	Type NE Id	PRS5684JesusCh		Check	
<font face="Ethiot</td><td>oic Unicode"><]	'EI xmlns="http://wy	ww.tei-c.org/ns/1.0)" type="per	rs" xml:lang="en" xml	
-			Ŭ		Ŭ
•					•
	Save			Cancel	

If the search in the BM database has not provided the expected result, please contact the project team to create a new entry (or create a new XML file directly if you have the necessary access rights).

8.2. Global annotation

If the same name appears throughout the text with the same meaning (always associated with the same person/place/etc.), you can now automatically associate the same authority file to all the other occurrences of the name by selecting NE->Annotate Global in the drop-down menu (Figure 67).

sa	braddin		
, sa	Replace Word unit		-
်ခ	Insert Wordunit Before		
	Insert WordUnit After		
•	Delete Wordunit		
na	Join Wordunits		
°it	Join Morphologically		
	Split Wordunit		
ba	Edit Transliteration	Þ	
'a	Comment Unit	Þ	
1	Tokenise		
ba	Remove Tokens		
w	NE	Þ	Insert / Modify NE
kr	Linguistic Annotation	Þ	Delete NE
		1	Annotate Global
· ·			

Figure 67

In the new 'Insert Global NE' frame, choose whether you want to apply your changes to the text before or after the cursor point and click 'Show'. You will now see all occurrences of the name in question in the text (Figure 68).

'itvd	Replace Word unit		🔲 Insert Global NE 'ityo⊐yā		r 🛛 🖂	
anh	Insert Wordunit Before		Before	✓ After	Show	
gabi	Insert WordUnit After		Select All	Clear	Insert	
man	Delete Wordunit					
wa-	Join Wordunits		wa-manfas qəddus kama yərdə⊔-anr	a la-∐ālama ∐ālam ∐amen . wa-sami □alavvēn □alavv vva mam□alāv za □	illo nəgusa llityopyā 💷 0	
	Join Morphologically		□anda şəyon kana □alaw-o həgusa	Lələwan Ləbuy wa-maniləlay za-L	alloaya təlis-o	
· .	Split Wordunit		lā⊡la ⊡orzi⊡-u ⊡āmda sovon, wa-v	obe ⊟okawwon nomića la_k⊟oll_u mo	dra Dituonivā 🗖 1 la-krostivān	
maş	Edit Transliteration		ba-kama həggə-ya wa- 🛛 amazabbər	□abyāta krəstiyānāt wa-zanta bəhilo ta	anś a wa-hora	
aha	Comment Unit	•				
aua	Tokenise		wa-□anəsta wa-□agb□-omu wəsta ḥəgg-u wa-□əm-dəḥra-z yəbe □əśayyəm mak□ānənta lā□la			
nāzā	Remove Tokens	-	baḥāwərta <mark>□ityoṗyā</mark> □2 yəśayyəm nəguśa şəyon wa-śema mak□ānənta wa-masāfənta lā□la dāmot 1-			
mar	NE	Insert / Modify NE	masfəna wa-lā□la			
1	Linguistic Annotation	Delete NE			_	
rad	eta	Annotate Global	mədr 1-wa-nagāśe g□ažām 1 wa-□i	hadaga haba za-□i-śema wəsta k□əl	l-u mədra □ityopyā 🛄 3 za-□i-	
			yəkəl başıha ⊔əsma ⊔ı-yəkəl ⊔əgr y	əkun rə⊔sa wa-mədr samaya wa-gabı	r	
			dāgm məş□at-u la-walda □əgzi□abə	her ba-kama zenawu qəddusāt maşāh	əft wa-fadfāda-sa mangəśta	
			litvopyā □4 □eska dāgm mes □ata	krestos za-ba∏enti∏a-hā tanabbava	dāwit wa-vəbe ∏itvoṗvā tābassəh	
					,,,,,,	
			🗆 ityopyā tənabbər 🗆 əska dāgm məşl	∃ata krəstos za-ba□ənti□a-hā tanabb	aya dāwit wa-yəbe	
			🛛 🔲 🖾 🖬 🖾 🖬 🖾 ityopyā 🔲 5 🗆 ədawi-hā haba 🗆 əgz	i⊡abəher. wa-lə□ukāna nəguś-sa □:	əlla fannaw-omu haba wə□ətu	
						

Tick off the occurrences you want to associate with the authority file (or use the 'Select All' button if all occurrences stand for the same named entity) and click 'Insert'.

8.3. Editing NE annotation

Single links to the authority file can at any point be edited by returning to the Insert / Modify NE option and providing a new ID, or unselecting/selecting tokens. You can also remove the link to the authority file completely by choosing 'Delete NE' in the drop-down menu.

8.4. Titles, dates, abbreviations

Named entities of the type 'titles' (offices, terms of address, etc.) or dates (absolute or relative) do not have to be associated with an authority file; you can use the free text field to provide additional information if needed (Figure 69).

Insert NEba-10-wa-8-	āmata mangəśt-u			rø	X
🗌 ba					
1 0		🖌 mangəśt			
🛩 wa					
₩ 8		🗹 u			
🗹 🗆 āmata					
Person	O Place		Organisation		
 Title 	Work		Date		
Abbreviation					
Paragraph 🔻 De	fault 🔻 🛧	😽 B I U		۱	⊞
1332 CE					
Edit					
Searc	ch type 💿 AND		○ OR		
Autho	ortiy Lists	Link	•		
Ту	pe NE Id		Check		

Figure 69

You can also use the NE frame to write out the abbreviations: tick the 'Abbreviation' box and provide the full text in the free text field.

8.5. Hiding NE annotation

In some cases, too much highlighting and underlining may disturb the annotators and/or users. If you do not want the named entities appear underlined you can hide the annotation by selecting 'Disable NEs' in the View/Configure Annotations top menu (Figure 70).

🛃 GeTa - TraCES Annotation Tool		
File History Show Window Tools	View/Configure Annotations Ke	yboards
Show cursor position	Set LB start number Define/View text structure levels Clear Structure View Text Structure Disable NEs	

9. Working with GeTa: particular examples of annotation

9.1. Disambiguation

GeTa tool offers many possibilities of linguistic disambiguation. Apart from the lexical disambiguation by linking to the correct lemma in the dictionary (see e.g. Figure 44), the users might need to provide morphological disambiguation – assigning different parts of speech or grammatical forms to homonymous tokens.

Thus, Λ can be a conjunction (if it is followed by a verb, see Figure 71) or as a preposition (if it is followed by a noun, see Figure 72).

°əmma-b-o za-ha		za-ḫaț°a	la-țəbab
la-yəs°al			wahābi
🗂 Linguist	ic Annotation la	r ¤' ⊠	la-k™əll-u
PoS	Conjunction	Select PoS	wa-nəhna-ni
Lemma Id	50c370464996939e7bfb4	3dd6444 ∧ Select Lemma	°əm-°ab
		Insert Lemma BM	qəddus
Deep Annotat	ion	Deep Annotation	la-°ālama
		is NE part?	214
Complete	Local Glob	al 🔾 Global-Complete	ityopya
Annotate Clear		Cancel	nəguśa

Figure 71

marāhe	⁹ onza					
radento	C Linguistic	Annotation la			° 0' 🛛	
lau eta	PoS	Preposition			Select PoS	
	Lemma Id	50c370464990	5939e7bfb43dd6444	-1	Select Lemma	
ya qob				1	Insert Lemma BM	
za-ŋai a	Deep Annotation	Nominal state			Deep Annotation	
haba za-yəhub					is NE part?	
wa-°i-yət ^c eyy	Complete	Local	Giobal	00	Slobal-Complete	
rad°eta	Anno	tate	Clear		Cancel	
wa-manfas		qa	ddus	_		
yərdə ³ -anna		la	-ʿālama			

Figure 72

In some cases, morphological disambiguation can and should be reflected not only at the annotation but also at the transcription level. For example, a noun with the last consonant in the sixth order (e.g. $\hbar \alpha \eta$) should be transcribed without the final *a*-vowel when it is in the absolute state (i.e. the

automatically produced final *a*-vowel should be deleted to produce *sarāwit*, *hagg*) but with the vowel when the noun is in pronominal state and is followed by a pronominal suffix (i.e., e.g., *la-sarāwita-ya*, *hagga-ka*, see also Figure 73).

Show cursor position		° 0' 🛛	Show o	current word anno	tation		* d' 🛛 🕻 🖂
Level sentence: sentence 5 (Internal	Nr.: 5)		həggə Common A ? ya	Noun gender u	marked number.Sing	ularP UnmarkedS case:Nominative	state:Pronominal state lex:
Original AmdaSeyon.json			Transl	iterated AmdaSe	yon.json		
ወሰሚያ ፡	37-10 1		la-kwə	ll-u		mədra	°ityopyā
ኢትዮጵያ ፡	ዘስመ- ፣		wa-°ən	nallək-om	1	la-krəstiyān	ba-kama
ዓምደ ፡	ጽዮን ፡		həggə-	ya		wa-°amazabbər	[°] abyāta
hav :	0ስዎ ፡		krəstiy	anāt		V 🗖 Deep Annotation	ត់ 🗹 🕻
37-10 1	ዕልዋን ፡		nguistic Am	notation həggə			Number
on.e :	ወመምዕላይ ፣	PoS		Common Noun		Gender	Pattern 🖲 Singular
HK008 :	ርእሶ ፡	Lemm	a Id	L1b523ac06c	324d77984d38a7139a	masculine Nature	O Plural external
ከመ :	ዲያብሎስ ፡					Pattern	O Plural internal
ዘተመክሐ ፡	100 :					🔲 Syntax	O Plural of the plural
<pb>6.961 :</pb>	ወይቤ ፣	Deep /	nnotation	unmarked Sin	gularP UnmarkedS	🗌 feminine 🔛 Nature	O Hemadod
እስው-ን ፡	hav :			Nominauve P	fonominal state	Pattern	Onmarked
A0-A 1	ወስማሁ- ፡			_		Syntax	Syntax 🔄 Singular
አዕበየ ፡	ርእሶ ፡					✓ unmarked	Plural
37.00 1	ዕልዋን ፡	E Co	mplete	Local	Global		Unmarked
ዘስሙ ፣	0.02.2.7 :					Case	State
ot man :	100 :					Nominative	C Absolute State
PB-A THLA :	ዓምደ ፡		Annota	te	Clear	Accusative	Construct State
ጽዮን	31		11 1103	2110		O Vocative	Pronominal State
ወይቤ ፡	እከው-ን ፡		1-mast	fəna		Comment	
37-10 :	ለከተለ- ፡		alāmā	le		1 Body Text Default	▼ A ⊗ B 7 U ⊟
ምድረ፡	ኢትዮጵያ ፡		fatagā			1	
ወአመልከሙ :	ለክርስቲ. የን ፡		Pandag	abtan		1	
nho :	ሕግ የ ፡		lācla			š	
ወአመዘብር	8-0.8+ i		wa-lā ^c l	a		n	
ክርስቲያናት ፡	@H'?+t :		lā°la			C Edit HTML	
ብሂሎ ፡	+3mh:					V T	Annian
Oche :	ወበጽ ሐ ፡		1-mast	fəna		la ra	Katata
70 :	ምድረ ፡		1-mast	fəna		wa-lā ^c la	wagdā
hcht.ga	#		1-mast	fəna		lā°la	sarmāt
ወአው-ዐየ ፡	6.† :		1-mast	fəna			wa-lā ^c la
bcb+ 63 .	ጠቀተላቀለው		Ital ² at			1-masfana	17510

Figure 73

9.2. Defining the gender and number in nouns

Another particular example of deep linguistic annotation produced with the GeTa tool is assigning of gender in nouns (see Table 1. Parts of speech and possible features in the GeTa tool for a full list of possible features).

Wherever the gender is marked, the annotator is invited to specify on which basis the gender attribution took place – physical nature of the object (Nature), the morphological pattern (Pattern), or the syntactic agreement. In some cases, the gender may be marked multiply, and the physical, morphological, and syntactic gender do not necessarily coincide.

For the number, the annotators are invited to specify whether the number is marked or unmarked morphologically, i.e. by pattern, and/or syntactically, i.e. by agreement. If a noun is plural by pattern, the annotator can additionally choose between external and internal plural, or the plural of the plural. Again, the syntactic and the morphological number do not necessarily coincide.

E.g. the noun $\hbar n n n$ (which can be both masculine and feminine according to the dictionary by Dillmann) when encountered in the sentence wa-sam'u hazba tanbālāt has been annotated as masculine by the agreement with the verb which precedes it (sam'u, Perfect Third Masculine Plural of the verb $\hbar m n$: sam'a 'to hear, to listen') and as plural by the syntactic agreement, while being singular in pattern (see Figure 74).

ኩልትሪ	1	ወግዳየ	wa-bərura	wa-°albās	qattant
# E] Linguistic A	nnotation həzba	ٿ ک	kəbura	za-°alb-o
OUC; Po	s c	Common Noun	Select PoS	bərtə-ssa	wa-hasin
ወው-ስ Lei	mma Id	597784fcdbebe9c9fad02c333	หาก Select Lemma	kama	°əbən
ሸዋ ፡			Insert Lemma BM	wa-°əm-dəhra-z	fannawkəw-omu
በአራ. 00	ep Annotation	nasculineS SingularP PluralS	Deep Annotation	wəsta	kwəll-u
Deep Anno	otation	ة a. 🛛	is NE part?	tanbālāt	°əlla
Gender masculine feminine unmarkee	 Nature Pattern Syntax Nature Pattern Syntax 	Number Pattern © Singular ○ Plural external ○ Plural internal ○ Plural of the plural ○ Unmarked Syntax □ Singular ☑ Plural □ Unmarked	Global-Complete Cancel Zār mədra wa-qataləw-omu wa- ³ aw ⁶ ayu wa-şənu ⁶ āta ² ənsəsā	kwəlgora wa-hargāya wa-wəsta šawā ba-°afa °ahgura wa-dewawu	wa-gədāya wa-fadse wa-bəqul kwəll-u wa-şab'əw-omu haşin °abayta wa-māhəraku sab'a
Case		State	za-'alb-o	mastart	wa-sam'u
Nor	ninative	O Absolute State	<u>həzba</u>	tanbālāt	wa-sab'a
⊖ Acc	usative	Construct State	gabal	za-wə'ətomu	nolota
O Voc	ative	Pronominal State	°ənsəsā	kama	fannawkəw-omu
		C . ronorminal State	la-sarāwitə-ya	yəşbə ² u	kāl°a

9.3. Using the comment function

Comments should always be left when the annotators are not sure about their choices or if these choices may not appear obvious to other users.

For example, the verb form *yəmaşşə*', which by pattern seems to be Imperfect 3rd person masculine singular was annotated as Imperfect 1st person communis singular when appearing as part of the graphic unit $\lambda_{e}a^{m}R\lambda_{h}$: 'i-yəmaşşə'-'a: the preceding token, the negative particle λ_{e} .'i-, assimilated with the prefix of the Imperfect 1st person communis singular λ 'a-, becoming the initial \mathcal{E} . This explanation was provided in the Comment field during the Deep annotation process (see Figure 75).

rəgum	Show current word annotation	r 🛛 🗠	đ
la-sayțān	'i Negative Particle lex: A.	-	-
za-yətqārran	yəmaşşə ² Verb tam:Imperfect person:First gender:Communis nu	mber:Singular	
wa-rəḥuq	Comment: This such at the Immerfact has been empoteted as First	Communic Singular because there is the assimilation	
°əm-səbḥata	between the Negative Particle before, i.e. h. *i-, and the	the prefix of the Imperfect First Person Singular $\lambda^2 \approx$.	
°əm-tərsita	which after the Negative Particle becomes ይ yə lex:መጽአ		•
la⁰aka	ĥaba	nəguś	
°ənza	yəbəl	°i-yəmaşşə°-°a]

Figure 75

Another example is the necessity to justify a correction or a normalization as compared to the source text of the edition (Vorlage, see Figure 76 : here an error of the source edition has been corrected).

1001-01-0	wo ² o ² o15fo	be herele	^o acci ^o ababar
አግዚለግሔር	wa- a siala	Show current word annotation	= avzi koaner ≓ a` ⊠
በሚያ ፡		qəddus	
ውእቱ፡	°əm-lā°kāna	Common Noun gender masculineP number:Si	ngularP UnmarkedS case:Nominative state:Absolute state
ወልዱ ፣	rəgum	Typing mistake in Marrassini's edition where t	he noun is written as ቀዳ-ስ ፡ <i>qaddus</i> . Cp. Marrassini 1993, p. 58:
ለጽድቅ ፡	la-sayțān	5 (ed.). lex- ቅዳ-ስ	
ክርስቶስ ፡	za-yətqārran		
ወሊሉይ ፡	wa-rəḥuq		
ወፍሎዋ ፥	°əm-səbḥata	wald	wa-fəluț
ቅዱስ ፡	°əm-tərsita	manfas	qəddus
ንጉሥ ፡	la°aka	<u> </u> haba	nəguś
ኢይመጽእአ ፡	°ənza	yəbəl	°i-yəmaşşə²-°a
ወኢይቀውምአ	habe-ka-°a		wa-°i-yəqawwəm°-a
ትመጽእአ ፡	qədme-ka°-a	wa-soba	təmaşşə°-°a
እስመ ፡	ḫabe-ya-⁰a	°i-yəfarrəh-°a	°əsma
እስ ፡	bə-ya	sarāwit-°a	°əlla
እስ ፡	yəbazzəhu	°əm-sarāwitə-ka	°əlla

Figure 76

Glossary of terms

Abbreviation	Shortening used in the edited text; can be resolved by using the Insert/Modify NE function
Accusative Particle	The affixed particle +ሃ (suffixed only to proper names) (in linguistic annotation)
Adverb	Unchangeable part of speech primarily modifying verbs and clauses; includes interrogative adverbs (አይቴ፡, ጣእዜ፡, እፎ፡, ጣመጠን፡) and other adverbs (location: ሀየ፡, አፍአ፡, ዝየ፡, ፀጋም፡ time: ቀዲሙ፡, ካዕበ፡, ዮም፡, ይእዜ፡, ጌስም፡ and others: መጠነ፡, ቀዳሚ፡, ባሕቱ፡, አጣን፡, ግሙራ፡) (in linguistic annotation)
Affirmative Particle	The particle እወ፡ and the affixed particle +ጓ yes indeed!, certainly! (in linguistic annotation)
ANNIS	ANNotation of Information Structure - A web browser-based search and visualization architecture for complex multilayer linguistic corpora - http://corpus-tools.org/annis/
Annotation	The process of providing meta-data at various levels, see also linguistic annotation, deep annotation, global annotation, Named Entities, structure annotation
Aspect	Verbal grammatical category that expresses how an action, event, or state, denoted by a verb, extends over time (in linguistic annotation)
Basic annotation	Linguistic annotation where only PoS labels are assigned to the tokens (without deep annotation)
Cardinal Numeral	A nominal part of speech representing quantity (in linguistic annotation)
Case	A grammatical category of nominals (nouns, pronouns, numerals, infinitive verbs, etc.); Nominative, Accusative, and Vocative can be marked (in linguistic annotation)
Case Accusative	The case of a direct object (in linguistic annotation)
Case Accusative Ø	The case of a direct object with zero flexion (in linguistic annotation)
Case Nominative	The subject case (in linguistic annotation)
Case Vocative	The case of the addressee (in linguistic annotation)
Common Noun	A part of speech (noun) denoting a general item (as opposed to Proper Name) (in linguistic annotation)
Conjunction	A part of speech used to connect (coordinate) words or clauses (in linguistic annotation)
Context	Strings / words / text passages surrounding the focal unit (before and after)
Date	Time reference used in the edited text; can be explained by using the Insert/Modify NE function (in linguistic annotation)
Deep annotation	Detailed linguistic annotation of all features identifiable for each part of speech in the edited text
Deictic Imperative Particle	The particles m.sg. ነዓ፡ (ንዓ፡), f.sg. ንዒ፡, m.pl. ንው፡, f.pl. ነዓ፡ (in linguistic annotation)
Demonstrative Pronoun	Pronouns that point to specific things such as. ዝ+/ዘ+ , ዝንቱ፡/ዘንተ፡, ዛ+ or ዛቲ፡/ዛተ፡, እሉ፡ or እለግንቱ፡/እለግንተ፡, እላ፡ (እለግን፡) or እላንቱ፡ (እላንታ:)/ እላንታ፡ for near objects; ዝኩ፡/ዘኰ፡ or

	ዝኵቱ፡/ዝኵተ፡, እንትኩ፡ /እንትኰ፡ or እንታከቲ፡/ እንታከተ፡, እልኩ፡ or እልኵቱ፡ (እልከቱ፡)/እልኵተ፡ (እልከተ፡) or እላከቱ፡/እላከተ፡ for far objects (in linguistic annotation)
Editorial annotation	Marking up editorial choices such as reconstructed, conjunctured, or rejected/expunged letters, words, etc.
Ethiopic	See Gəʻəz
Existentials	Part of speech corresponding to the English existential clause 'there is / there is not'
Existentials Affirmative Base	በ+Pronominal Suffix <i>there is</i> (ብየ፡, ብከ፡, ብኪ፡, ቦ፡ or ቦቱ፡, ባ፡ or ባቲ፡) (in linguistic annotation)
Existentials Negative Base	አልበ+Pronominal Suffix: (አልብየ፡, አልብከ፡, አልብኪ፡, አልቦ፡ or አልቦቱ፡, አልባ፡ or አልባቲ፡ …) (in linguistic annotation)
Extension	A string in the file name with the time stamp, version number, and other variables
Fidal	Gəʿəz script
Fidal separator	See Word separator
Foreign Material	In linguistic annotation: borrowed elements with no lexicalization in Gəʿəz, e.g. ሰንድ sagad (element in proper names such as ʾAṣnāf Sagad)
Gəʿəz Vocalized Gəʿəz Unvocalized Gəʿəz	Classical Ethiopic language Gəʿəz script (fidal) with vowel orders Gəʿəz script (fidal) with all consonants appearing in the first order (as in early inscriptions)
Gender	A specific form of noun class system in which the division of noun classes forms an agreement system with another aspect of the language, such as adjectives, articles, pronouns, or verbs. We distinguish masculine, feminine, and unmarked. Can be expressed by pattern, by syntactic agreement, or implied by the physical nature of the object (in linguistic annotation)
Gender communis	In verbs, relative pronouns, pronominal suffixes: common gender (in linguistic annotation)
Gender feminine	To be provided for nominals and verbs (in linguistic annotation)
Gender masculine	To be provided for nominals and verbs (in linguistic annotation)
Gender nature	Gender implied by the physical nature of the object - feature existing in nouns only (in linguistic annotation)
Gender pattern	Gender expressed by the morphological root pattern; marked in nouns (common and proper) only (in linguistic annotation)
Gender syntax	Gender expressed by syntactic agreement - in nominals (and infinitives) only (in linguistic annotation)
Gender unmarked	In nominals only (in linguistic annotation)
Gerund(ive)	A particular nonfinite nominal verb form denoting a completed and anterior action; also known as converb (in linguistic annotation)
GeTa	Gəʿəz Toolkit for Annotation
Global annotation	Applying the global annotation lets the user automatically assign the same meta-data (tokenization, features, links, comments, etc.) to all occurrences of the same unit in the text

Graphic unit	Sequence of symbols written together, can contain more than one annotatable token
Imperative	A grammatical mood (in verbs) that forms a command/request (in linguistic annotation)
Imperfect	A verb form combining past tense and imperfective aspect (in linguistic annotation)
Independent Personal Pronoun	Pronoun associated with a particular grammatical person (1st, 2nd, 3rd): አነ፡, አንተ፡, አንቲ፡, ውእቱ፡/ውእተ፡, ይእቲ፡/ይእተ፡ (in linguistic annotation)
Infinitive	Verbal noun, as distinguished by the pattern and nominal grammatical features (in linguistic annotation)
Index	Computer-produced register of all units in a given text
Interjection	Particles used to express pity, surprise, joy, etc., e.g. አሌ፡ (+ለ+PSuff: አሌልየ፡ or አሌ፡ ሊተ፡), ወይ፡; አ+ , አህ፡, እንቋዕ፡, ዬ፡ or ዮ፡; ጸጥ፡; ባሕ፡ (in linguistic annotation)
Interrogative Adverb	Question word such as አይቴ፡ , ማእዜ፡ , እፎ፡ , ሚመጠን፡ (in linguistic annotation)
Interrogative Particle	Particle converting the sentence into a yes/no question, e.g. +ひ, +ト (in linguistic annotation)
Interrogative Pronoun	Question word such as መኑ፡/መነ፡ who?, ምንት፡/ምንተ፡ what?, sg. ኢይ፡/አየ ፡ which?, pl. አያት፡/አያተ፡ (in linguistic annotation)
JSON	JavaScript Object Notation - a lightweight data-interchange format
Lemma	The canonical dictionary form of a word, corresponding to an entry in the dictionary (with specific grammatical definition, translation, etc.)
Lexical unit	A single word (can be a graphic unit or a part of a graphic unit) that forms the basic element of the language lexicon and corresponds to a dictionary lemma
Lexical annotation	Linking each lexical unit to the corresponding lemma in the dictionary (in linguistic annotation)
Lines and line breaks	Features of layout of the source text (poetry, inscriptions) that can be reproduced in the GeTa tool (as part of editorial mark-up)
Linguistic annotation	Mark-up that provides meta-data concerning the lexical and grammatical categories and features of the tokens in the selected text
Logogram	A sign representing a word, such as the symbols standing for the numerals (in linguistic annotation)
Matching	As in string matching: searching for identical strings within a given text
Meta-data	Data about data: any additional information about a text, a graphic unit, a token, etc., that can be provided at any level
Mood	A verb category indicating whether a verb expresses a fact (indicative, default), a possibility (subjunctive), or a command (imperative mood) (in linguistic annotation)
Named Entity	Real-word objects or categories that words (proper names, numerals, logograms, etc.) can be related to; include Persons, Places, Works, Organisations (with a link to an authority file), Titles, Dates, and Abbreviations; often indicated by proper names, but not necessarily (in Named Entities annotation)
Negative Particle (Base)	Particles indicating negation, e.g. ኢ+, አልቦ፡, እንቢ+PSuff: እንብየ፡, አኮ፡ (in linguistic annotation)

Nominal	Part of speech category including nouns, pronouns, and numerals (in linguistic annotation)
Noun	Part of speech used to refer to animate or inanimate objects, ideas, or events; can be common or proper (in linguistic annotation)
Number	Grammatical category of nominals (and nominal verb forms) that expresses count distinctions; can be singular, plural, or unmarked, and be expressed externally (by an affix) or internally (infix/pattern) or both (plural of the plural in nouns) or marked by syntactic agreement (in linguistic annotation)
Number pattern	Number marked by the root pattern (in linguistic annotation)
Number plural	Category corresponding to 'more than one' object count; can be expressed in nominals and verbs (in linguistic annotation)
Number plural external	Plural marked by an external affix (in linguistic annotation)
Number plural internal	Plural marked word-internally (infix or pattern) (in linguistic annotation)
Number plural of the plural	Number marked doubly, by pattern and external affix (in linguistic annotation)
Number singular	Category corresponding to the 'single/one' object count; can be expressed in nominals and verbs (in linguistic annotation)
Number syntax	Number indicated by syntactic agreement with other words in the sentence
Numeral	Part of speech (nominal) that designates a number (cardinal or ordinal)
Object Pronoun Base	Non-independent pronoun in the object function such as \mathfrak{h} . Pronominal Suffix
Ordinal Numeral	Ordinal number, a nominal part of speech used to specify position in a sequence (in linguistic annotation)
Organisation	A Named Entity type, an institution of any type
Pages and page breaks	Features of layout of the source texts (editions, manuscripts) that can be reproduced in the GeTa tool (as part of editorial mark-up)
Part of speech	Abbreviated PoS - a category of lexical items with similar grammatical behaviour, includes nominals (nouns, pronouns, numerals), verbs, and particles (adverbs, prepositions, conjunctions, interjections, further particles); the GeTa tool additionally specifies existentials. Punctuation is also treated at the PoS level (in linguistic annotation)
Particle	Part of speech without inflection, includes adverbs, prepositions, conjunctions, interjections, further particles (in linguistic annotation)
Perfect	Verbal tense/aspect for completed actions
Person	Grammatical category in verbal conjugation reflecting the reference to the participant of the action, can be first, second, or third (in linguistic annotation of verbs and pronominal suffixes)
Place	A toponym indicating a specific location; a link to the authority file can be provided (during Named Entities annotation)
PoS	See Part of speech

Possessive Pronoun Base	Non-independent pronoun in the possessive function such as m.sg. ዚአ+PSuff, f.sg. እንቲአ+PSuff, c.pl. እሊአ+PSuff (in linguistic annotation)
Preposition	PoS for words (without inflection) showing relationship between other words in a sentence
Presentational Particle Base	Non-independent particles such as ና+PSuff:3m.sg (ናው፡), ነው+PSuff:3f.sg (ነዋ፡), ነይ +PSuff, እን +PSuff (in linguistic annotation)
Pronominal Suffix	Abbreviated PSuff - non-independent affix in the personal pronoun function, such as $+ r/ + z$, $+h$, $+h$, $+v$, $+y$ etc. (in linguistic annotation)
Pronoun	Part of speech for words substituting for nouns, can be personal, possessive, demonstrative, relative, interrogative
Pronoun of Solitude Base	Non-independent pronoun meaning 'alone', followed by pronoun suffix ባሕቲት+ (in linguistic annotation)
Pronoun of Totality Base	Non-independent pronoun meaning 'all, whole', followed by pronoun suffix ከል+ /ከለንታ+ (in linguistic annotation)
Proper Name	Names signifying unique objects
PSuff	See Pronominal Suffix
Punctuation	Sentence marks (the GeTa tool only supports the word separator : and the full stop #) (in linguistic annotation)
Quotative Particle	Suffixed particle +አ marking direct speech (in linguistic annotation)
Relative Pronoun	Pronoun referring back to a thing or person previously mentioned in relative clauses, m.sg. ዘ+, f.sg. እንተ፡, c.pl. እለ፡ (in linguistic annotation)
Sabaic	Language spoken in South Arabia and used also in the Horn of Africa in the first millennium BC with its script used in both Sabaic and Aksumite Ethiopic inscriptions
Separator	See word separator
Span	A part of a document/text that has been assigned an identifying label, can be of any length, from one character to the entire text, depending on the level of meta-data. The term is most frequently used in connection with the text structure annotation.
State	Nominal category describing, for nouns (incl. verbal nouns, or infinitives), the role of a noun in a genitive construction, and for particles, the attribution of an additional marker
State Absolute	A grammatical category of the independent (main) noun in unbound form, as opposed to construct or pronominal state (in linguistic annotation)
State Construct	Status constructus - a grammatical category of a noun bound to a following noun in a genitive relationship (in linguistic annotation)
State Construct Ø	Status constructus without grammatical marker (in linguistic annotation)
State Nominal	Prepositions and interjections in unbound form (in linguistic annotation)
State Pronominal	A grammatical category of a noun bound to a following pronoun in a genitive relationship; also in prepositions, interjections (in linguistic annotation)
String	A sequence of two or more characters

Structure annotation	Annotation of the textual organization into books, chapters, sentences, or other meaningful segments
Subject Pronoun Base	Non-independent pronoun in the subject function such as ለሊ+PSuff (but 1c.sg.: ለሊየ፡ or ለልየ፡ or ለሌየ፡) (in linguistic annotation)
Subjunctive	Verbal mood reflecting possible, not factual, action, subsumes also Jussive
Тад	Label (of meta-data) assigned to any segment or span, incl. word, graphic unit, token, sentence, etc.
TAM	Tense-Aspect-Mode (for verbs; in linguistic annotation)
TEI	Text Encoding Initiative
Tense	Verbal grammatical category expressing the reference to the time of speaking (prior, simultaneous/future), often in combination with aspect (in linguistic annotation)
Text structure	See structure annotation
Title	In Named Entities, refers to the address form, epithet, function, rank, or similar designation of a person
Token	Minimal morphological unit (the smallest linguistically annotatable unit)
Tokenization	Splitting graphic units into minimal morphological units
Transcription	Digital rendering of a text, letter by letter, faithful to the model (can be manual or with OCR support)
Transliteration	Latinization of the <i>fidal</i> text according to a fixed set of rules. The standard convention (see Table 2, applied by the automatic transliteration) is completed by the disambiguation rules (e.g. gemination; sixth-order vowel presence, applied in manual transliteration)
Verb	Part of speech for actions
Verse	In poetry: a single metrical line; in the Bible: conventional segments of the text of the chapter (can consist of several sentences, one sentence, or a part of a sentence)
Versioning	Managing of different versions of / stages of work with a text
Vocative Particle	The prefixed particle አ+
Word separator	The <i>fidal</i> punctuation symbol : at the end of each graphic unit
Work	In Named Entities, refers to titles of literary texts
XML	eXtensible Mark-up Language - a markup language that defines a set of rules for encoding documents in a format that is both human-readable and machine-readable
Zotero	Bibliography management software at www.zotero.org